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Chairman’s Statement

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Green Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”).

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS
During FY2017 the Group has engaged in the trading of (a) bio-cleaning materials, (b) waste 
construction materials recycling, (c) renewable energy and (d) plastic recycling businesses. An analysis 
of the above segments can be found in note 5 of the audited consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Group’s total revenue for FY2017 was approximately HK$41.6 million (FY2016: HK$2.6 million) 
representing an increase of approximately 15.3 times as compared with that for the year ended 
31 December 2016 (“FY2016”). The main reason for the increase was due to the increase in revenue 
from the renewable energy sector. Further details of the financial analysis for FY2017 have been 
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis section of the report.

YEAR IN REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(a) Bio-Cleaning Products

As in the previous financial years, all revenues in FY2017 from this sector were contributed by 

sales made in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to grow its business in Hong Kong and will 

also promote and broaden its sales to overseas markets. Plans to sell and gain market access 

to overseas customers have also been put in place and the Company will continue to explore 

business opportunities outside of Hong Kong.

(b) Waste Construction Materials

The performance in this segment has improved in FY2017 because of the demand for our product 

is picking up. As a result, more orders were placed from local construction companies and 

government authorities. Steady growth is expected in this segment in the coming year as the 

Group is still in the process of building up its customer’s base in Germany.

(c) Renewable Energy

The Group recorded a revenue of HK$37.1 million from the trading of recyclable oil/biodiesel 

for FY2017 as the Group shifted its focus from the development of a biodiesel plant to the trading 

of recyclable oil business. We are now examining alternative acquisitions and investments, the 

Group is still engaged in active negotiations on the formation of a joint venture with a recyclable 

oil supplier, if material, it will enable the Company to expand its revenue base and will have 

synergy effect on the Group’s current business and will update shareholders once there is any 

further developments on such potential investments.
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(d) Plastic Recycling

The Group was previously engaged in this business sector for many years until 2013 when it was 

suspended due to the expiration of the lease of the site at which the business was conducted and 

the implementation of stringent government policy for import of recyclable plastic materials to the 

PRC from Hong Kong.

For FY2017, the Group has recruited a chief executive officer Mr. Kolthoff and acquired the 

assets of his business to re-start the business of this sector. The two generations of Mr. Kolthoff 

have experiences in running plastic recycling business of nearly 50 years. The Group believes 

that, given with the same management under Mr. Kolthoff and his existing network of suppliers 

and customers together with the support of the Group, the business will better perform and grow 

in a much faster pace compared with the past.

For the Plastic Recycling business development, the Group implemented a solid one-year plan 

with view to (a) improving the condition of the industrial premises and (b) rebuilding/repairing/

reconditioning the existing plant and equipment. The Group completed a successful trial 

production in May 2017 and went into soft commercial production in early June 2017. The 

Group has submitted the application for an extension of the existing industrial permit that allows 

to the Group to undertake an extended scope of plastic recycling activities using advanced 

technologies, and expect to secure the said extension in the first half of 2018.

On the strengths of market development for clean energy utilisation, the Group remains 

confident this business segment will eventually improve its profitability and revenue growth in the 

foreseeable future, and the Company will continue to implement stringent cost control measures to 

maintain the profitability of our products.
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT – Renewable Energy Sector
The used cooking oil (“UCO”) supply from importation is quite ample. We see that Chinese market 
became much more professional and it is now relatively easy to contract UCO batches of 5,000 MT on 
FOB terms.

Shortage of UCO on the market will be one of the key issues to face this year. In order to compensate 
for the low supply of UCO on the European market producers are turning to imports. The volume of 
UCO exported from China nearly tripled between January and September 2016 and the same period 
this year.

28.017

63.704

19.265 21.591

25.924 118.7728.806

6.561 75.434

+187.9%

217.206

UCO EXPORT FROM CHINA: JAN – SEPT 2016 VS JAN – SEPT 2017
(Source: Chinese Customs)

*Custom code: 15180000

Jan - Sept 2016

Jan - Sept 2017

Other Hong Kong South Korea The Netherlands

The Netherlands is, by far, the biggest destination of Chinese UCO with 54% of all exported product 
going there in the first nine months of this year.

The strong surge of the Euro against USD allowed for an improvement in prices of imported UCO, the 
increasing volumes of UCO in bulk arriving Europe change the structure of the import market. However, 
shipments in flexitanks from China also continue to develop. Fortunately, double counting biodiesel 
mandates are increasing for 2018, which help to maintain a balance between supply and demand.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND FUTURE PROSPECTS
Looking forward, a stagnant recovery in the global economy is expected to continue in 2018 and the 
uprising of trade protectionism is expected to lead to a greater fluctuation in the global economy and 
capital markets. Regarding foreign investments, on 3 October 2017, a subsidiary of the Company 
entered into a purchase agreement with an independent third party to purchase of additional properties 
in Germany. The Company intends to use the additional properties for further development and 
expansion of the recycling business, the storage area for new equipment acquired and the new office. 
Our management believe that the plastics recycling business is expected to contribute positively to the 
future growth of the Group and to bring synergy effect with the existing businesses of the Group. Please 
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 May 2016 and 30 September 2016 for more details.

Increasing prices for conventional plastics, environmental issues and improved quality of recycled plastic 

is expected to contribute towards the growth of the global recycled plastic market.
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The global recycled plastic growth will also be driven by a variety of factors such as the growing 

emphasis on sustainability amongst the packaging and consumer product manufacturers, improvements 

in processing and sorting technologies allowing a broader variety of plastic to be recycled into high 

quality resins, and an improved collection infrastructure which increases the plastic recycling rate.

Recycled plastic market in Europe is also expected to show steady growth due to stringent laws 

pertaining to the use of plastic in Europe. Europe is currently recycling more than 4.4 million tons of 

plastic wastes every year due to ban on dumping plastic scrap in landfills. Furthermore, the increasing 

awareness about protection of the environment is also anticipated to boost the Europe plastic recycling 

market.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation to all our 

shareholders, customers and business associates for their continued support throughout the years. I 

would also like to express my gratitude to our management and staff for their dedication and loyalty to 

the Group.

Yip Wai Leung Jerry

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry, aged 59, is a solicitor and a partner in the firm of J. Chan Yip, So & Partners, 
of which he is one of the founding partners. Mr. Yip graduated from University of London with a 
Bachelor Degree in Laws. He has more than 20 years of legal professional experience and his principal 
areas of practice include commercial work, property, finance and litigation. Mr. Yip has commenced his 
service with the Company on 2 March 2006.

Mr. Luo Xian Ping, aged 54, holds a bachelor degree in Business Management from Jiangxi University 
and a master degree in Business Management from the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social 
Sciences University. Mr. Luo is also a Certified Public Accountant registered in the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”) and a Certified Public Valuer in the PRC.

Mr. Luo has over 14 years’ experience in assets restructuring and corporate finance. Mr. Luo served 
as the chief executive officer of China Regenerative Medicine International Limited (“CRMIL”) (formerly 
known as China Bio-Med Regeneration Technology Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the 
Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 
8158), from December 2009 to August 2012 and its executive director from March 2009 to August 
2012. He is currently the chairman of the board of directors of FDC Group Limited and the executive 
director of C.H.M.T. Peaceful Development Asia Fund Limited. From 1998 to 2001, he served as an 
executive director of China Securities Co., Ltd.* (華夏證券股份有限公司), responsible for corporate 
assets restructuring and human resources management. He has served as an executive director of Kaili 
Asset Servicing Company Limited* (北京凱利資產服務有限公司) (in partnership with Morgan Stanley). 
From 1995 to 1998, Mr. Luo was the vice-secretary for Youth Executive President Committee (青年總
裁委員會) of National State-owned Asset Administration Bureau and worked as a general manager in 
Beijing Assets Valuation Company Limited.

Mr. Ho Wai Hung, aged 41, obtained an Advanced Diploma in Accounting and Finance from the 
University of Greenwich in 2010. He is experienced in accounting and finance, and the money 
lending business. He had worked with various money lending companies in Hong Kong, in which he 
was responsible for roles in the accounting and finance functions. With effect from February 2017 to 
February 2018, Mr. Ho was the assistant to finance director at the subsidiaries of Superactive Group 
Company Limited (formerly known as United Pacific Industries Limited) (Stock Code: 176), the shares of 
which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. So Yin Wai, aged 55, was appointed as independent Director with effect from 2 March 2006. 
graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1986 and has been in the accounting profession 
for more than 20 years. He is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 
the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He had previously 
worked for Peat Marwick, Mitchell & Co. and Messrs. Kwan Wong Tan & Fong and been involved in 
the audit of a number of international and local engagements and listed companies. He is currently 
the sole practitioner of his own firm known as Alex So & Co (Certified Public Accountants). Apart 
from his auditing experiences, Mr. So also specializes in company secretarial work, tax planning and 
management consultancy matters. Mr. So is currently the Vice-Chairman of China Business Association. 
He is the Honorary Auditor of a number of voluntary organizations, including Hong Kong Parkinson’s 
Disease Foundation, Life Currents and Caring Centre Foundation Limited.
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Mr. Tam Chun Wa, aged 54, has been appointed as the chief financial officer, the company secretary 
and the authorized representative of Perfect Group International Holdings Limited, a company whose 
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3326) with effect from 7 
February 2017. Mr. Tam obtained a Master degree of Business Administration from the University of 
Sydney. He is also a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, CPA (Australia) 
and Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. Mr. Tam has more than 20 years in the areas 
of auditing, accounting, tax, investment banking and company secretarial works. He has been an 
independent Director since 24 August 2011.

Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona, aged 58, was appointed as an independent Director of the Company on 31 
May 2012. She is a solicitor in Hong Kong who was first admitted in 1989. She was also admitted 
to practice law in Victoria, Melbourne, Australia in 1985 and in England and Wales in 1992. Ms. Li 
obtained a bachelor of laws and bachelor of economics (combined course) from Monash University 
in 1982 and 1984 respectively, a Chinese bachelor of laws from the Chinese University of Political 
Science and Law in 1995 and an executive master degree of business administration from the Chinese 
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Mr. Sze Cheung Pang, aged 74, is currently the chairman of the board of directors of Geyung Group 
(International) Company Limited and Geyung (Real Estates) Company Limited. From December 2009 to 
August 2012, Mr. Sze served as a non-executive director of CRMIL.

In 2003, Mr. Sze was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”). He was a member of the first, third and fourth Election Committee of 
HKSAR for the election of Chief Executive and a member of the eighth to eleventh National Committee 
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He was also a deputy director of Hong Kong, 
Macao, Taiwan and Overseas Chinese Committee of the CPPCC National Committee and the permanent 
honorary president of the Hong Kong Eastern District Community Association* (香港東區各界協會).

Further, Mr. Sze is a standing director of China Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National 
Reunification, the honorary president of the Hong Kong Association for Promotion of Peaceful 
Reunification of China Limited, the standing director of the China, Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan 
Compatriots Peaceful Development Federation, the founding president of the Association of Chinese 
Culture of Hong Kong, the founding president of the General Association for the Promotion of 
Cross-Strait Peaceful Development of Hong Kong Ltd., the special research fellow on the Chinese United 
Front Theory Study, the president of the Hong Kong Chinese Culture Development Research Federation, 
the honorary president of the Fukienese Association Ltd., and the advisor to the Hong Kong Fujianese 
Societies Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Tso Sze Wai, aged 47, is the Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Tso holds a bachelor degree 
in Commerce awarded by University of New South Wales, Australia and a postgraduate diploma in 
Computing in the University of Western Sydney, Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 15 years of experience in accounting and finance. Mr. Tso 
joined the Group in August 2014. He has been appointed as Independent Non-executive director of 
China Jicheng Holdings Limited. He was previously an Independent Non-executive director of Hua Han 
Health Industry Holdings Limited (resigned on 27 July 2017) which are listed companies on mainboard 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW
INCOME
During the year, the Group has engaged in (a) bio-cleaning materials, (b) waste construction materials 

recycling, (c) renewable energy, and (d) plastic recycling businesses. The Group’s total revenue for the 

year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017”) was approximately HK$41.6 million (the year ended 31 

December 2016 (“FY2016”): approximately HK$2.6 million) representing an increase of approximately 

15.3 times as compared with that for FY2016.

(a) Bio-cleaning Products

The revenue arising from activities of bio-cleaning sector for FY2017 was approximately 

HK$92,000 (FY2016: approximately HK$94,000) representing a decrease of approximately 

2.1% as compared with that for FY2016.

(b) Waste Construction Materials

The revenue arising from waste construction material sector for FY2017 was approximately 

HK$2.6 million (FY2016: approximately HK$2.5 million) representing an increase of 

approximately 4.8% compared with FY2016.

(c) Renewable Energy

The Group recorded a revenue of HK$37.1 million from the trading of recyclable oil/biodiesel 

for FY2017 as the Group shifted its focus from the development of a biodiesel plant to the trading 

of recyclable oil business.

(d) Plastic Recycling

The Group implemented a solid one-year plan with view to (a) improving the condition of the 

industrial premises and (b) rebuilding/repairing/reconditioning the existing plant and equipment. 

The Group completed a successful trial production in May 2017 and went into soft commercial 

production in early June 2017. The turnover arising from this sector was approximately HK$1.8 

million for FY2017 (FY2016: Nil).
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EXPENDITURE
In FY2017, total expenditures excluding finance costs were recorded at HK$30.1 million (FY2016: 

HK$39.9 million).

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for FY2017 was approximately HK$3.1 million 

(FY2016: the net loss was approximately HK$36.6 million), representing a decrease of approximately 

of 91.5% as compared with the last year.

The reduction in loss arose due to

(1) improvement in the operating activities in the waste construction materials and renewable energy 

sectors;

(2) exchange gain of approximately HK$10.8 million was recorded for FY2017 due to the translation 

of balances denominated in foreign currencies as most of business activities of the Group were 

conducted outside of Hong Kong, which were non-cash in nature and were mostly attributable 

to appreciation of Euro and Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars as Eurozone political risk has 

eased after Macron’s En Marche Party won the general election and the persistent weakening 

of the US dollars during the year (FY2016: exchange loss of approximately HK$3.2 million was 

recorded);

(3) decrease in finance cost due to the full redemption of convertible redeemable bonds on 21 April 

2016 (FY2016: approximately HK$0.72 million representing imputed interest of the convertible 

redeemable bonds issued on 22 April 2015);

(4) equity-settled share based payments of approximately HK$12.4 million was recognised for 

FY2016 as two lots of options granted on 4 November 2016 and 6 December 2016 respectively. 

No equity-settled share based payment was recognised for FY2017; and

(5) impairment loss on deposit for acquisition of plant and equipment of approximately HK$2.8 

million recorded in last year which did not recur this year.

The reduction in loss for FY2017 was however offset by (1) unrealised fair value loss of approximately 

HK$2.43 million from the securities investment pursuant to the accounting standard for FY2017 (FY2016: 

Nil); (2) impairment loss on a loan receivable and interest thereon of approximately HK0.92 million and 

(3) increase in one off cost for the remedial works of the plastic recycling plant in Germany under a 

solid one year plan with a view to commencing soft commercial production to be followed by full swing 

commercial production.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total current assets of approximately HK$104.7 million (As at 

31 December 2016: approximately HK$32.1 million) while total current liabilities were approximately 

HK$18.2 million (As at 31 December 2016: approximately HK$4.9 million). The current ratio, an 

indicator to demonstrate the ability to meet the short term liabilities, was approximately 5.8 (As at 31 

December 2016: approximately 6.5). The Group has sufficient fund to meet its liabilities as they fall 

due.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$145.5 million (As at 31 

December 2016: approximately HK$56.1 million). The Group did not have external borrowing for 

FY2017 and FY2016.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group managed a portfolio of securities listed and traded in The 

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) of approximately HK$4.82 million. 

The Company believe that the acquisition could improve the Group’s capital usage efficiency and 

bring about certain capital investments return. Please refer to the Company announcement dated 26 

April 2017 for more details. The Group recorded an unrealised loss from the portfolio of securities of 

approximately HK$2.43 million for the year (FY2016: Nil).

Placing of new shares
On 14 December 2016, after trading hours, the Company entered into the placing agreement with the 
placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent conditionally agreed with the Company to endeavor 
to place up to 133,206,000 placing shares to not less than six placees which are professional 
investors, who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are independent third parties at the placing price 
of HK$0.26 per placing share. The placing price of HK$0.26 per placing share represented a discount 
of approximately 11.86% to the closing price of HK$0.295 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange 
on 14 December 2016.

The placing was completed on 3 January 2017. 133,206,000 placing shares were successfully placed 

at a price of HK$0.26 per share pursuant to the placing agreement. The aggregate nominal value of 

the placing shares is HK$13,320,600. The aggregate gross and net proceeds from the placing are 

approximately HK$34.63 million and approximately HK$34.11 million, respectively. The net price to 

the Company of each placing share, which is calculated by dividing the aggregate net proceeds from 

the placing by the total number of placing shares, is approximately HK$0.256.

The directors of the Company consider the placing represents a good opportunity to raise additional 

funds and widen the shareholder base of the Company. Accordingly, the directors consider that the 

placing is in the interests of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, 

the placees and their ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of and are not connected 

with the Company and its connected persons.
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The net proceeds from the issue of the new shares were approximately HK$34.11 million and 
were intended to be used for general working capital of the Group to support its normal operation 
and possible new investment or development of business of the Group. As at 31 December 2017, 
approximately HK$19 million was utilized for the new investment and development of the existing 
business segments. The remaining net proceeds have not been utilized and are still held in an account 
with a reputable licensed financial institution.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The ordinary operations and investments of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong and Germany, with 
revenue and expenditures denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Euro dollars. The Operations results 
of the Group may be affected by the volatility of foreign currencies. The Group will review its foreign 
exchange exposures regularly and may consider using financial instrument to hedge against such 
exposures at appropriate times. As at 31 December 2017, there were no derivative financial instruments 
employed by the Group.

SEASONAL OR CYCLICAL FACTORS
During the year, the Group‘s business operations are not significantly affected by any seasonal and 
cyclical factor.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL
Save for disclosed in the notes 21 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements, there was no 
other material acquisition or disposal of the Company’s subsidiaries and associated companies for the 
FY2017.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT
As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not have any material capital commitment (As at 31 December 
2016: HK$1,139,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Save for disclosed in the note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any 
material contingent liabilities. (As at 31 December 2016: Nil).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 December 2017 the Group had 32 employees (As at 31 December 2016: 28 employees) in 
Hong Kong, the PRC and Germany.

The Group offered competitive remuneration package as an incentive to staff for improvement. The 
Company has a share option scheme in place as a mean to encourage and reward the eligible 
employees’ (including directors of the Company) contributions to the Group’s results and business 
development based on their individual performance.

The employees’ remuneration, promotion and salary are assessed by reference to work performance, 
working experiences and professional qualifications and the prevailing market practice.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements 

of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 to all the shareholders.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATION
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set 

out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature 

of the Group’s principal activities.

Segmental information of the Group was disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 41.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Further discussion and analysis of business activities of the Group during the year and a discussion on 

the Group’s future business development, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing 

are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 6 and Management Discussion and Analysis on 

pages 9 to 12 of this Annual report. These discussions form part of this directors’ report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 34 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicator is set 

out in the Five Years Financial Summary and Management Discussion and Analysis on page 114 and 

pages 9 to 12 of this annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2017 comprised 

contributed surplus of HK$56,897,000 (2016: HK$56,897,000).

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus account of the Company 

is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a 

distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its 

issued share capital and share premium accounts.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements of the Company’s share capital during the year are set out in note 25 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the 

consolidated statement of change in equity on page 43 of the annual report and in note 36(b) to the 

consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wai Kit (appointed on 1 February 2017 and resigned on 14 July 2017)
Mr. Luo Xian Ping (appointed on 1 January 2018)
Mr. Ho Wai Hung (appointed on 12 March 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. So Yin Wai
Mr. Tam Chun Wa
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona
Mr. Sze Cheung Pang (appointed on 1 January 2018)

Mr. Luo Xian Ping and Mr. Sze Cheung Pang were appointed by the Board as new Director pursuant to 
Clause 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-laws on 1 January 2018 and Mr. Ho Wai Hung was appointed by 
the Board as an additional director on 12 March 2018 respectively, he will hold office only until next 
following general meeting and will then be eligible and will offer himself for re-election at the Annual 
General Meeting.

In accordance with Clause 99 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Mr. Tam Chun Wa and Mr. Yip Wai Leung 
Jerry retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than 
statutory compensation).
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
At 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief executive in the 
shares of the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the 
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as otherwise 
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant 
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company

Name of

Director/chief executive Capacity

Number of 

issued ordinary

shares held

Percentage of

the issued share

capital of the Company

Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry  

(“Mr. Yip”)

Beneficial owner 330,000 0.03%

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any 
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations as at 31 December 2017 as recorded in the register required to be kept under 
section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the year or subsisting at the end of the year 

are set out below:

Share Option Scheme

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, its 

holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to 

enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or 

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry has entered into a service agreement with the Company for a period of two 
year expiring on 31 December 2018 and the service contracts are subject to renewal after expiration.

Mr. Luo Xian Ping has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing from 1 January 
2018 to 31 December 2019, and the service contracts are subject to renewal after expiration.

Mr. Ho Wai Hung has entered into a service contract with the Company commencing from 12 March 
2018 to 11 March 2020, and the service contracts are subjected to renewal after expiration.

Mr. So Yin Wai, Mr. Tam Chun Wa, Mr. Sze Cheung Pang and Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona as the independent 
non-executive directors have a two year service contracts with the Company and the service contracts 
are subject to renewal after expiration.

Save as disclosed above, no Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting 
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of 
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” of this Directors’ Report, no 
transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to which any of the Company’s holding 
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or entity connected 
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or 
at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Brief biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this Directors’ Report are set out on pages 7 
to 8.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The percentage of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major customers and 
suppliers are as follows:

Sales

– the largest customer 35%

– five largest customers combined 89%

Purchase

– the largest supplier 97%

– five largest suppliers combined 100%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors 
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers 
noted above.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
There was no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial 
part of business during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS
As at 31 December 2017, as recorded in the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the 

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, other than the interests and short positions disclosed 

above in respect of the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the following persons had 

interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company:

A. Substantial shareholders – long position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number of

issued ordinary

shares held

Number of

underlying

shares held

Approximate

percentage

of total

issued share

capital of the

Company

(Note 1)

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

Ho Lip Hong (Note 2) Interest of controlled 

corporations

222,971,436 – 23.55%

Marvel Express Limited  

(“Marvel Express”) (Note 2)

Interest of a controlled 

corporation

222,971,436 – 23.55%

New Glory Business Corporation 

(“New Glory”) (Note 2)

Beneficial owner 222,971,436 – 23.55%

(ii) Long position in the underlying shares of the Company

Liang Hui Min Michael (Note 3) Beneficial owner – 118,950,000 12.56%
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B. Other person – long position in the shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

Number of

issued ordinary

shares held

Approximate

percentage of

total issued share

capital of the

Company

(Note 1)

Leyou Technologies Holdings 

Limited (“Leyou”) (Note 4)

Beneficial owner 60,000,000 6.34%

Notes:

1. The approximate percentage of total issued share capital calculation was based on the total number 
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2017, i.e. 946,928,176 shares.

2. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests of Ho Lip Hong, Marvel Express and New Glory filed 
with the Stock Exchange on 28 December 2017, such shares of the Company were held by New 
Glory, which was owned as to 35% by Marvel Express, which was in turn wholly-owned by Ho Lip 
Hong. As such, each of Ho Lip Hong and Marvel Express was deemed to be interested in the shares 
of the Company held by New Glory by virtue of the SFO.

3. Based on the notice of disclosure of interests of Liang Hui Min Michael filed with the Stock Exchange 
on 2 December 2017, such underlying shares of the Company were unlisted physically settled equity 
derivatives of the Company.

4. Such shares of the Company held by Leyou represented (i) approximately 6.64% of the total issued 
share capital of the Company as at 26 January 2017 (i.e. 903,186,176 shares) based on the 
notice of disclosure of interests of Leyou filed with the Stock Exchange on 27 January 2017; and (ii) 
approximately 6.34% of the total issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2017 (i.e. 
946,928,176 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, no person (other than the Directors or chief 

executive of the Company) had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of 

the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 

336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual 
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company still considers all of the independent 
non-executive Directors to be independent.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report as set out on pages 21 to 28 of the annual report of the Company for the year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the audit committee of the 
Company (“Audit Committee”) are set out in the code provision C.3.3 of the Code on Corporate 
Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), which were in force prior to 1 January 2009.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditor in 
matters coming within the scopes of the Group audit. It also reviews the effectiveness of the external 
audit and of internal controls and risk evaluation. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee 
comprises four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. So Yin Wai as chairman, Mr. Sze 
Cheung Pang, Mr. Tam Chun Wa and Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona as a member.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the audited results of the Group for the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year under review, the Group had connected transactions, certain details of which have 
been disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements and which have been disclosed in 
this paragraph are connected transactions or as the case may be, continuing connected transactions 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in 
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the management on the basis of their 
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the remuneration committee, having regard to the 
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company was adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors, employees and other 
eligible participants, details of the scheme is set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
The Group promotes environmental protection by raising the employees’ awareness of resources saving 
and efficient use of energy. In recent years, the Group has implemented several policies to encourage 
employees for saving energy and paper. All these policies aim at reducing resources and saving costs 
which are beneficial to the environment and meet the commercial goals of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in 
particular, those have significant impact on the Group. The Group upholds high standards of operating 
practices and complies with the relevant standards. The Group has stringent requirements to maintain 
high levels of quality control and responsible business practices. Any changes in the applicable laws, 
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units 
from time to time.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIES AND CUSTOMERS
The Group values mutually beneficial long standing relationships with its suppliers and customers. The 
Group aims at delivering high quality products to its customers and developing mutual trust among its 
suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OR CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE BONDS
The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year under review. Neither the Company nor 
any of its subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year under review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the 
Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained 
a sufficient public float.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS 
A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force 
throughout this year.

AUDITOR
During the year, Messrs. BDO Limited who acted as auditor of the Company for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016, resigned and Messrs. Cheng & Cheng Limited was appointed as auditor of 
the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company 
to re-appoint Cheng & Cheng Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yip Wai Leung Jerry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory standards and adherence to 

the principles of corporate governance emphasizing transparency, independence, accountability, 

responsibility and fairness. The board (“Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company ensures that 

effective self-regulatory practices exist to protect the interests of the shareholders of the Company.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions under the Code on Corporate Governance 

Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 December 

2017 (the “year under review”), save for the deviations discussed below. The following sections set out 

a discussion of the corporate governance practices adopted and observed by the Company, including 

any deviations therefrom, during the year under review.

A. Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 

Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own securities dealing 

code for the Directors. All the Directors confirmed, upon specific enquiry made by the Company 

on them, that they had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code regarding 

their securities transactions.

B. Board of Directors

(i) Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Director and independent 

non-executive Directors. As at 31 December 2017, the Board consisted the following 

Directors:

Executive Director

Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry

Mr. Chan Wai Kit (resigned on 14 July 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. So Yin Wai

Mr. Tam Chun Wa

Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona

Schedules of matters reserved for the Board include:

– To formulate overall strategy of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)

– To monitor its financial performance and maintains effective oversight over the 

management 

– To control and approve transactions which are extraordinary and significant to the 

Group as a whole
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B. Board of Directors – continued
(ii) Board meetings and attendance record

The Company held four meetings during the year under review. The attendance record of 
the Board meetings are as follows:

Members of the Board

Number of board meetings 

held during the Director’s

term of office in 2017

Number of

meeting(s)

attended

Chairman

Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry 4 4

Mr. Chan Wai Kit  

(resigned on 14 July 2017) 1 1

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. So Yin Wai 4 4

Mr. Tam Chun Wa 4 4

Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 4 4

(iii) Independent non-executive Directors
In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three 
independent non-executive Directors during the year under review. All independent non- 
executive Directors brought their wealth of experience to the Board and made active 
contribution to the Group. They closely monitored the developments of the Group and 
freely expressed their opinions at board meetings. One of the independent non-executive 
Directors, Mr. So Yin Wai, graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1986 
and has been in the accounting profession for more than 20 years. He is a member of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. His accounting qualification satisfies the 
requirements of Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

None of the independent non-executive Directors, has any business or financial interests 
with the Group and each of them has confirmed their independence to the Group pursuant 
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation, the Board considers that all 
independent non-executive Directors were independent.

(iv) Relationship among members of the Board

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant 
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are free to exercise their 
independent judgment.
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B. Board of Directors – continued
(v) Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

The Group regularly updates Directors on the latest development regarding the Listing 
Rules and other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding subjects necessary 
in the discharge of their duties. In addition, the Company has been encouraging Directors 
to attend seminars on the latest development of applicable laws, rules and regulations so 
that they can continuously update and further improvement their relevant knowledge and 
skills.

According to the records provided by the Directors, the training received by each of the 
Directors during the period from 1 January 2017 up to 31 December 2017 is summarized 
as follows:

 

Type of continuous
professional

development training
(notes)

Directors
Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry A and B
Mr. Chan Wai Kit (resigned on 14 July 2017)  B

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona A and B
Mr. So Yin Wai A and B
Mr. Tam Chun Wa A and B

Notes:

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or Directors’ 

duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and other applicable 

regulatory requirements etc.

(vi) Board Diversity Policy
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration of a number of 
factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All board appointment 
will be made based on merit, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, 
having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board and the contribution that the 
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board is characterized by significant diversity, in terms of 
gender, professional and educational background and skills.
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C. Chairman and chief executive officer

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive 

officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The role of the 

chief executive officer was performed by Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry, who was also the chairman 

of the Company. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive 

officer in the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent leadership, and 

allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions and 

strategies.

The Board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such management structure and will 

adopt such appropriate measures as may be necessary in the future taking into consideration of 

the nature and extent of the Group’s operation.

D. Remuneration of Directors

The Company established a remuneration committee on 21 December 2005. Members of the 

remuneration committee as at 31 December 2017 comprised Mr. So Yin Wai, Mr. Tam Chun Wa 

and Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona. Mr. Tam Chun Wa is the chairman of the remuneration committee. All 

votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive Directors. No 

Directors will be involved in any discussion in connection with his own remuneration.

The main duties of the remuneration committee are as follows:

– To determine the remuneration policy of the Group

– To determine the remuneration of executive Directors regarding their remuneration

– To review annually and take note of the remuneration trends of the Group and obtain 

reliable and up-to-date information about remuneration packages of other closely 

comparable companies
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D. Remuneration of Directors – continued

It is the Company’s policy that the remuneration package of each Director shall be determined by 

reference to their experience, qualification and the time expected to be devoted by them on the 

affairs of the Company.

The remuneration committee held one meeting during the year under review.

Members of the

Remuneration Committee

Number of meeting(s) held

during the committee member’s

term of office in 2017

Number of

meeting(s)

attended

Mr. So Yin Wai 1 1

Mr. Tam Chun Wa 1 1

Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 1 1

Upon the determination of the old share option scheme, the Company has adopted a new share 

option scheme on 1 June 2016, which serves as an incentive to attract, reward and motivate 

eligible staffs etc. 

Details of the share option scheme are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

E. Nomination of Directors

The Company established a nomination committee on 21 December 2005. Members of the 

nomination committee as at 31 December 2017 comprised Mr. Tam Chun Wa, Mr. Yip Wai 

Leung Jerry and Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona. Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona was the chairwoman of the nomination 

committee.

The main duties of the nomination committee are as follows:

– To review the structure, size and composition of the Board regularly and to make 

recommendations to the Board with regard to any changes required

– To evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience of the Board

– To identify and nominate any candidate for the Board’s approval

– To make recommendations for the appointment and removal of the Chairman or any 

Director

– To make recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of any non-executive 

Director at the conclusion of his specified term of office
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E. Nomination of Directors – continued
The Group will consider the background, experience and qualification of any proposed 
candidates to ensure that the proposed candidates possess the requisite experience, characters 
and integrity to act as a Director of the Company.

The nomination committee held one meeting during the year under review.

Members of the
Nomination Committee

Number of meeting(s) held
during the committee member’s

term of office in 2017

Number of
meeting(s)

attended

Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry 1 1
Mr. Tam Chun Wa 1 1
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 1 1

 Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of the 
senior management (other than Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 by band is set out below:

Remuneration Bands

Number 
of Senior 

Management

Nil to HK$1,000,000 5

F. Auditor’s remuneration
The Audit Committee of the Company is responsible for considering the appointment of the 
external auditor and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor, 
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse effect on 
the Company. During the year under review, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s 
auditor, Cheng & Cheng Limited, is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fees paid/payable
HK$

Audit services 550,000
Non-audit services 75,000

The non-audit services included primarily reviewing certain financial information.
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G. Audit committee
As at 31 December 2017, the audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) comprised 
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Chun Wa, Mr. So Yin Wai and 
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona. Mr. So Yin Wai is the chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. So Yin Wai 
has the appropriate professional qualifications of accounting or related financial management 
expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purpose of such appointment.

Meetings of the Audit Committee are held not less than twice a year to review and discuss the 
interim and annual financial statements respectively. Additional meetings may also be held by the 
committee from time to time to discuss special projects or other issues which the Audit Committee 
considers necessary. The external auditor of the Group may request a meeting of the Audit 
Committee to be convened if they consider that it is necessary.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

– To monitor the works of the external auditor
– To review the Group’s interim and annual financial statements before submission to the 

Board
– To discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits and any 

matters that the external auditor may wish to discuss
– To review the Group’s statement on internal control system prior to endorsement by the 

Board
– To consider the major findings of any internal investigation and the management’s 

response

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year under review. The attendance record of 
the Audit Committee meetings for the year under review is as follows:

Members of the Audit Committee

Number of meetings held 
 during the committee member’s

term of office in 2017

Number of
meeting(s)

attended

Mr. So Yin Wai 3 3
Mr. Tam Chun Ma 3 3
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 3 3

Throughout the year under review, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities by 
reviewing and discussing the financial results and internal control system of the Group.

Risk management and Internal Control:
Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board should ensure that the Group maintains sound and effective 
internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s asset.

The Board has reviewed the efficiency of the Group’s internal control systems, including financial 
operation and compliance control and risk management procedure. The Board believes that the 
Group is responsible to improve the internal control system continuously in order to give hand 
to the risk of the deficiency in the operating system, if any, with an aim to achieve the Group’s 
objectives.
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G. Audit committee – continued

During the year under review, the Company complied with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG 
Code. During the year under review, the Board conducted a full review of the effectiveness of the 
material internal control system of the Group and considered internal audit planning presented by 
internal audit staff and discussed the assessment with the management.

Based on the assessment, the Board, with the concurrence of the audit committee is of the opinion 
that the system of internal controls established and maintained by the Group addressing financial, 
operational, compliance and information technology risks as well as risk management systems, 
were adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

Internal audit

The Company has employed a Internal audit staff (“IA”) to perform the internal audit function and 
to improve the system and processes of internal controls of the Company. IA primarily reports 
to the Chairman of audit committee and ensure the internal control are in place and functioning 
properly as intended.

The audit committee has annually reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk 
management, the scope and results of internal audit procedures. The audit committee also reviews 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal audit function. Based on the report presented, 
the audit committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has 
appropriate standing within the Company.

H. COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tso Sze Wai has been the Company Secretary of the Company since 28 August 2014. 

Mr. Tso reports to the chairman of the Company and is responsible for advising the Board on 

corporate governance matters. Mr. Tso has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of 

relevant professional training during the year under review.

I. Directors’ and auditor’s acknowledgement

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated financial statements 

for the year under review.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s 
report on the consolidated financial statements for the year under review.

By order of the Board

Yip Wai Leung Jerry

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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The Group is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report, which 

provides a comprehensive account of the Group’s sustainability related policies, measures and 

performance from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017. We believe that this ESG report enables us 

to communicate our sustainability related matters in a transparent and accountable manner, which is key 

to gaining the trust of our stakeholders. This is the second ESG report by the Group, highlighting its ESG 

performance, with disclosure reference made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 

of the Listing Rules and Guidance set out by the Stock Exchange.

This report covers the 2017 fiscal year and the data herein covers our major operations in Germany. 

We have evaluated the materiality of the key ESG issues arising from our business which we 

believed are most important to our business and shareholders. The report sets out the Group’s overall 

sustainability approaches and policies through four different areas, including environmental protection, 

our people, operating practices and community involvement.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to report in this ESG report, key 

stakeholders including investors, shareholders and employees have been involved in regular engagement 

sessions to discuss and to review areas of attention which will help the business meets its potential 

growth and be prepared for future challenges.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and performance. Please give your 

suggestions or share your views with us via email at hr@greenenergy.hk.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
The Group has been taking measures to reduce the possible impact on the environmental arising from 

the operation and production activities.

Production and sales

The emissions from production activities are limited to reproduce the construction waste, transports, 

motor vehicles and recycling plastic materials. It is estimated that over 28,000 liters diesel and gasoline 

was consumed for collecting the construction waste materials and recycling plastic business segment, an 

decrease of 6.67% as compared with FY2016. A further breakdown is provided in the following table:

FY2017 FY2016

‘000 ‘000

Diesel for operation Over 22 Liters Over 26 Liters

Diesel and gasoline for motor vehicles Over 6 Liters Over 4 Liters

Electricity for operation Over 4,335 kWh Over 325 kWh

Paper usage for operation Over 1 kgs Over 0.6 kgs

Gas for operation Over 6 kgs N/A
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Regarding other Greenhouse Gas (“GHS”) emission from our operations in 2016/2017, the following 

were calculated based on the fuel consumption data available.

Year ended 31 December 2017

Diesel and

Gas 

for Diesel for

gasoline

for motor

Electricity

for Paper 

(Tonnes) operation operation vehicles  operation usage Total

CO2 18 70 20 2,744 <2 2,853

CO N/A <1 <1 N/A N/A <2

NOx N/A <1 <1 N/A N/A <1

N2O <1 <1 <1 N/A N/A <1

CH4 <1 <1 <1 N/A N/A <1

VOC N/A <1 <1 N/A N/A <1

0.04%

0.64%

2.78%

0.36%

96.18%

Paper consumption

Gas

Gasoline

Diesel

Electricity

Table A
 Table A: Percentage of greenhouse gas emission sources in FY2017

Year ended 31 December 2016
Diesel and

Diesel for gasoline for Electricity for
(Tonnes) operation  motor vehicles  operation Paper usage Total

CO2 84 9 205 <1 298
CO <1 <1 N/A N/A <2
NOx <1 <1 N/A N/A <1
N2O <1 <1 N/A N/A <1
CH4 <1 <1 N/A N/A <1
VOC <1 <1 N/A N/A <1
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29.24%
2.84%

0.23%

67.70%

Paper consumption

Electricity

Diesel

Gasoline

Table B
Table B: Percentage of greenhouse gas emission sources in FY2016

(1) DIRECT EMISSION – DIESEL FOR OPERATIONS
The Group recognises the importance of maintaining environmental substainability in its daily operation, 
a series of measures are taken to enchance the energy efficiency, such as adopting energy-efficient 
equipment. There was 70 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases (mainly carbon 
dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation in the reporting period, an 
decrease of 17% as compared with FY2016. The annual emission intensity was 3.138 tCO2e/m2.

DIESEL AND GASOLINE FOR MOTOR VEHICLES
A total of 6,229 liters of diesel and gasoline was used for motor vehicles in the reporting period, 
contributing to 20 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, which increased by 122% as compared with 
FY2016.

GAS – FOR OPERATIONS
A total of 3,100 kg of propangas was used for fork lifts in the reporting period contributing to 9.2 
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent and a 3,000 kg of gas was used for heating system in the 
reporting period contributing to 8.9 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent. The annual emission intensity 
was 2.966 tCO2e/t. There was no such emission in last year.

(2) INDIRECT EMISSION – ELECTRICITY
The electricity consumption by the Group was 4,356,231 kWh contributing 2,744 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent, an increase of 1,238.09% as compared with FY2016 following this year soft 
production launched in recycling plastic plant in Germany, with an energy intensity of 0.63 kWh/m2. 
The Group continues its commitment in installing and switching to energy-saving lighting fixtures and 
sourcing energy efficient equipment to ensure functioning in optimal conditions and efficiency.

(3) OTHER INDIRECT EMISSION – PAPER CONSUMPTION
The Group’s additional effort in practising double password confirmation for printing and the recycling 
of used papers, which further reduced printing mistakes and thus less paper usage and wastage. A 
total amount of 1.167 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases emitted from the Group’s 
daily office operation, with an annual emission intensity of 4.8 kg CO2-e/kg, an increase of 69% as 
compared with FY2016.
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OUR PEOPLE
The Group cares about our employees and regards them as one of the important resources for the 
development of the Group. To attract and retain the best people for the Group, we endeavor to build a 
comfortable, healthy and equal working environment for our employees and ensure that all their rights 
and interests are protected. The Group had a total number of 32 employees as of 31 December 2017 
(FY2016: 28 employees).

(A) Employment Practices

The Group strictly complies with all applicable labour standards and employment laws and 
regulations of its respective operating bases. The Group prohibits child labour and forces labour 
in any workplace.

All employees of the Group have entered into written employment contracts and such contracts 
shall include dismissal term where the Company has the right to terminate such contract with an 
employee who willfully violates local laws and regulations and the Group’s policy.

Employees’ remuneration packages include basic salaries and performance-based bonuses which 
shall be determined by their qualifications, experience and prevailing market rates. Salaries 
and promotion opportunities are normally reviewed annually based on individual performance 
appraisals. Apart from the basic remuneration package, the Group also offers a wide range of 
benefits including medical and hospital insurance coverage, Chinese New Year red packet and 
paid leaves for sick, marriage and bereavement in addition to statutory holidays.

All employees enjoy rest days, statutory holidays and paid annual leave according to the 
respective government laws and regulations. No employee is paid less than the minimum wage 
specified by the government regulations in different jurisdictions.

(B) Employee Health and Safety

The Group places the highest priority on securing health and safety of all our employees. We 

endeavor to protect them from work-related accidents or injuries and the Group pledges full 

compliance with the relevant occupational health and safety legislation of Hong Kong, People’s 

Republic of China and Germany.

The Company provides insurance covering medical treatments and accidents to eligible 

employees. In order to avoid accidents and ensure that all employees work in a safe manner, we 

implement tailor-made “Workplace Health and Safety Manual” for different working conditions 

and needs which stipulates clearly the safety procedures as well as emergency response plans. 

Those established policies and guidelines will be reviewed periodically and further improved to 

better protect our employees. At the same time, first aid kit is available at each workplace to 

ensure that any employee who is injured or ill at work can receive immediate attention.
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Year ended 31 December 2017

Indicators Unit Hong Kong

People’s

Republic of

 China Germany Total

Fatality or permanent disablement 

cases recorded Number 0 0 0 0

Number of employees died during 

duty Person 0 0 0 0

Number of working days loss from 

working injury Days 0 0 76 76

Year ended 31 December 2016

Indicators Unit Hong Kong

People’s

Republic of

 China Germany Total

Fatality or permanent disablement 

cases recorded Number 0 0 0 0

Number of employees died during 

duty Person 0 0 0 0

Number of working days loss from 

working injury Days 0 0 0 0

(C) Development and Training

The Group strives to provide an environment where our employees can grow professionally and 

develop their career path that meets the long-term growth of our business simultaneously. In view 

of that, we always encourage our staff to participate in the continuous learning activities.

The Group encourages employees to participate in various external qualification examinations. 

Education allowances are offered to our employees to attend training courses organized by 

professional institutions from time to time to enhance their professional and technical knowledge. 

The Group also provides its directors with regular reading materials to ensure that they keep 

abreast of the latest regulatory requirements, corporate governance practices, and financial 

information and market trends.
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In our Germany division, we have created “Standard Operational Procedures Manual” for most 

of our activities which set out instructions for workers to carry out routine operations. It not only 

forms the basis operating training to our employees but also assists us to improve the overall 

operation efficiency and uniformity of performance in the long run. The procedures will be 

explained to each new employee before they begin their job.

OPERATING PRACTICES
The Group promotes the concept of rational development to construct a sincere and harmonious 

enterprise by upholding the principle of building a harmonious enterprise, following the direction of 

creating long-term mutual benefits with the best quality and services and creating the best situation for 

upstream and downstream customers.

(A) Product Liability

The Group understands that apart from the quality, customers are becoming more concerned 

about environmental matters and more likely to purchase and use eco friendly products. The 

Group is fully aware of and in fact supports this market trend and implements product certification 

and well-established quality inspection procedures to ensure that all our products meet quality 

standard and sustainable development requirement.

(B) Customer Privacy

The Group’s information technology department has maintained a comprehensive data protection 

system to ensure that the data we collect is protected and our customer’s privacy is respected. The 

Group respects intellectual property rights and requires using copyrighted application software, 

and avoids the security flaw and legal disputes arising from the copyright of software.

(C) Anti-corruption

Employees who engage in business operations and represent the Group’s professional image, 

are strictly prohibited to use business opportunities for personal interest or benefit. Employees are 

reminded that receiving gifts of any form from suppliers and customers is prohibited.

Staff handbook which lays out the Company’s expectations and guiding principles on bribery 

prevention is provided to each employee. Meanwhile, we encourage employees to report 

any malpractice and misconduct directly to the human resources department or the senior 

management. All reports will be treated at all times with confidentiality.

During the product/service providers’ selection or procurement processes, employees are 

reminded to avoid misuse of authority or being engaged in situations which could affect their 

ability to make decisions.
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COMMUNITY
Being a responsible corporate citizen, the Group has been actively involved in community projects 

near the towns and cities where we worked. Our strategy is focused on working with other non-profit 

organizations to improve underprivileged people’s lives and promote environmental awareness.

(A) Corporate Giving

1) During the year, the Group had donated a total approximately Euro448 to different charity 

organizations. We have also donated used equipment for refurbished projects led by 

non-profit organization. We had been sponsoring the Green Carnival organize by Green 

Council, which is part of local government initiative.

2) Germany divisions have “Standard Recycling Procedures Manual” which instructs 

employees how to classify the office and field wastes into different recycling bins or 

recycling trash bags.

(B) Employee Volunteering

In addition to donation, we also encourage our employees to contribute their time and efforts in 

various local community projects in the regions where we operate.

1) 2017 Donations to local community in Germany

2) 2016 – 50 hours voluntarily work for the local community achieved by Hong Kong 

division’s staff

3) 2017 – over 100 hours voluntarily work for the red cross society of China

4) 2017 – Donations to local community in Dongguan, China

5) Our staff in Hong Kong was awarded a volunteer service appreciation certificate presented 

by Social Welfare Department in appreciation of her contributions to volunteer service in 

the district in the year of 2016.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS FROM THE GROUP
The Group will continue actively sourcing energy-saving appliances, equipment and materials with 

careful selection and review of suppliers and their origins. Opportunities to work with other charity 

partners and more training and development in terms of raising staff’s awareness on environmental and 

social impacts from the business will also be considered.
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10/F, Allied Kajima Building,
138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
香港灣仔告士打道138號聯合鹿島大廈10樓
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GREEN ENERGY GROUP LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Green Energy Group Limited (the “Company”) 

and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on page 41 to page 113, which comprise the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance 

and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 

Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued 

by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We 

are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the 

Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 

the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS – Continued
Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has property, plant and equipment located in Germany with 

carrying amount of HK$24,678,000 which are utilised by the Group for its plastic recycling businesses 

in Germany. During the year, this business segment incurred segment loss of HK$5,906,000. This has 

increased the risk that the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment may be impaired.

Management has concluded that there is no impairment in respect of these assets as their recoverable 

amounts are higher than their carrying values. The recoverable amount of freehold land and building is 

determined based on the fair value estimated by management based on the valuation performed by an 

independent professional valuer while the recoverable amount of equipment is determined based on the 

fair value estimated by management with reference to the quoted prices for identical or similar assets in 

active markets.

We have identified this as a key audit matter because the estimation of fair value requires significant 

level of estimation and judgement, which includes selection of valuation methodologies and comparables 

and application of adjustments to the comparables.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment included:

– Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity;

– Assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of key assumptions adopted; and the 

reasonableness of the adjustments applied to the comparables; and

– Checking the accuracy and relevance of the input data used.

Other matter

The consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016, were audited 
by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30 March 2017.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in Management Discussion and Analysis (but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report. Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement, Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management, Director’s Report, Corporate Governance Report, Environmental Social and Governance 
Report and Five Years Financial Summary are expected to be made available to us shortly after that 
date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement, Biographical Details of Directors 
and Senior Management, Directors’ Report, Corporate Governance Report, Environmental Social 
and Governance Report and Five Years Financial Summary, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the audit committee of the Company 
(the “Audit Committee”) and take appropriate actions considering our legal rights and obligations.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit 
Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with 

Section 90 of the Bermuda Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 

towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 

professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify	 and	 assess	 the	 risks	 of	 material	 misstatement	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.

•	 obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 audit	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 evaluate	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	 policies	 used	 and	 the	 reasonableness	 of	 accounting	

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude	 on	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 the	 directors’	 use	 of	 the	 going	 concern	 basis	 of	 accounting	

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS – Continued
•	 evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements,	

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	 audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 entities	

or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 

that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so 

would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Shek Chi

Practising Certificate Number P05540

Hong Kong, 29 March 2018
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 6 41,607 2,552
Changes in inventories of finished goods (29,858) (392)
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value – (32)
Other income and net gains 7 13,971 1,591
Staff costs (9,815) (9,967)
Depreciation (1,806) (781)
Other expenses (16,064) (26,235)
Impairment loss on deposit for acquisition  

of property, plant and equipment – (2,848)
Finance costs 8 – (718)
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair  

value through profit or loss (2,432) –
    

Loss before income tax 9 (4,397) (36,830)
Income tax credit 10 666 –
    

Loss for the year (3,731) (36,830)
    

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of  

financial statements of foreign operations (4,746) 120
    

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (4,746) 120
    

Total comprehensive loss for the year (8,477) (36,710)
    

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company (3,118) (36,630)
Non-controlling interests (613) (200)

    

(3,731) (36,830)
    

Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Owners of the Company (7,808) (36,515)
Non-controlling interests (669) (195)

    

(8,477) (36,710)
    

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share – Basic and diluted 12 (0.34) (5.47)
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2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 35,811 24,021
Loan receivables 17 5,000 –
Intangible assets 14 – –
    

40,811 24,021
    

Current assets
Inventories 15 667 877
Trade receivables 16 12,686 105
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 17 5,064 1,478
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 4,819 –
Short-term investment 19 356 –
Cash and cash equivalents 20 81,125 26,665
    

104,717 29,125

Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 21 – 3,000
    

104,717 32,125
    

Current liabilities
Trade payables 22 10,145 684
Accruals and other payables 23 7,828 3,382
Provision for income tax payables 187 853
    

18,160 4,919
    

Net current assets 86,557 27,206
    

Net assets 127,368 51,227
    

EQUITY

Share capital 25 94,693 68,103
Reserves 26 33,323 (16,704)
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 128,016 51,399

Non-controlling interests (648) (172)
    

Total equity 127,368 51,227
    

On behalf of the directors

Director Director
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Share 

capital

Share 

premium*

Contributed 

surplus*

Exchange 

reserve*

Share 

option 

reserve*

General 

reserves*

Accumulated 

losses*

Equity 

attributable 

to owners 

of the 

Company

Non-

controlling

interests Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2017 68,103 326,500 56,897 7,949 27,114 71 (435,235) 51,399 (172) 51,227

Issue of shares through share placing 25 13,321 20,794 – – – – – 34,115 – 34,115

Shares issued upon exercise of  

share options 25 13,269 64,155 – – (27,114) – – 50,310 – 50,310

Additional non-controlling interests arising  

on the acquisition of subsidiaries  

(Note 31(a)) – – – – – – – – 193 193
            

Transactions with owners 26,590 84,949 – – (27,114) – – 84,425 193 84,618
            

Loss for the year – – – – – – (3,118) (3,118) (613) (3,731)

Other comprehensive loss

Exchange difference arising on  

translation of financial  

statements of foreign  

operations – – – (4,690) – – – (4,690) (56) (4,746)
            

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (4,690) – – (3,118) (7,808) (669) (8,477)
            

At 31 December 2017 94,693 411,449 56,897 3,259 – 71 (438,353) 128,016 (648) 127,368
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Share 

capital

Share 

premium*

Convertible 

redeemable 

bonds 

equity 

reserves*

Contributed 

surplus*

Exchange 

reserve*

Share 

option 

reserve*

General 

reserves*

Accumulated 

losses*

Equity 

attributable 

to owners 

of the 

Company

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 66,603 324,745 1,381 56,897 7,834 27,323 71 (412,582) 72,272 – 72,272

Capital contribution by 

non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – 23 23

Redemption of convertible 

redeemable bonds 24 – – (1,381) – – – – 1,381 – – –

Recognition of equity-settled 

share-based payments 29 – – – – – 12,387 – – 12,387 – 12,387

Lapse of vested share options – – – – – (12,596) – 12,596 – – –

Shares issued upon  

acquisition of property,  

plant and equipment 25 1,500 1,755 – – – – – – 3,255 – 3,255
             

Transactions with owners 1,500 1,755 (1,381) – – (209) – 13,977 15,642 23 15,665
             

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (36,630) (36,630) (200) (36,830)

Other comprehensive income

Exchange difference on 

translation of financial 

statements of foreign 

operations – – – – 115 – – – 115 5 120
             

Total comprehensive loss  

for the year – – – – 115 – – (36,630) (36,515) (195) (36,710)
             

At 31 December 2016 68,103 326,500 – 56,897 7,949 27,114 71 (435,235) 51,399 (172) 51,227
             

* The aggregate balances underlying these accounts at the reporting date of surplus of HK$33,323,000 (2016: 
deficit of HK$16,704,000) are included as reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax (4,397) (36,830)

Adjustments for:

Interest income (244) (126)

Finance costs – 718

Impairment on deposit for acquisition of property,  

plant and equipment – 2,848

Impairment on loan and other receivables 921 –

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,806 781

Loss on disposal/written off of property,  

plant and equipment 205 8

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 21 26 –

Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 2,432 –

Equity-settled share-based payments 29 – 12,387

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value – 32

Provision for litigation claim 32 182 –

Net exchange (gain)/loss (10,807) 2,233
    

Operating losses before movements in working capital (9,876) (17,949)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 210 (653)

Increase in trade receivables (12,581) –

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and  

other receivables (173) 650

Increase in short-term investment (356) –

Increase in trade payables 9,461 684

Increase in accruals and other payables 762 1,237

Increase in financial assets at fair value through  

profit or loss (7,251) –
    

Net cash used in operating activities (19,804) (16,031)
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2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 244 126

Refund of deposit for acquisition of investment  

under negotiation – 5,136

Increase in loan and other receivables (7,775) (400)

Repayment of loan and other receivables 250 1,500

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,000) (12,598)

Net cash outflow for acquisition of subsidiaries 31 (6,985) –

Proceed from disposal of property, plant and equipment 102 6

Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries 21 2,842 –
    

Net cash used in investing activities (13,322) (6,230)
    

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares through share placing 34,115 –

Proceeds from exercise of share options 50,310 –

Payment on redemption of convertible redeemable bonds  

at maturity date – (6,786)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests – 23

Interest paid – (543)
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing activities 84,425 (7,306)
    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 51,299 (29,567)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 3,030 (2,012)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 26,796 58,375
    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 81,125 26,796
    

Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash 81,125 26,665

Bank balances and cash classified under held for sale – 131
    

81,125 26,796
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Green Energy Group Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of 

its registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its 

principal place of business is located at 4C Derrick Industrial Building, 49 Wong Chuk Hang 

Road, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of 

Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Principal activity of the Company continued to be investment holding. The principal activities of 

its subsidiaries are set out in note 37. The Company together with its subsidiaries are collectively 

referred to as the “Group” hereinafter.

The Company’s parent is New Glory Business Corporation which was incorporated in the British 

Virgin Islands and the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider its ultimate parent is 

Marvel Express Limited which was incorporated in British Virgin Islands.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs – first effective on 1 January 2017

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new standards 

and amendments issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, which 

are relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the 

current year:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact on the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
– Continued
(b) New/Revised HKFRSs – issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated 

financial statements, have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early 

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 

Transactions1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

(Clarifications to HKFRS 15)1

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 

Consideration1

HKFRS 16 Leases2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

Amendments to HKFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement of Share-Based Payment 

Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting 

and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; 

share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax 

obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that 

changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. The Group 

does not anticipate that the application of these amendments will have a material impact 

on the classification and measurement of the Group’s share-based payment transactions.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
– Continued
(b) New/Revised HKFRSs – issued but are not yet effective – Continued

HKFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have 
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow characteristics test) 
are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash 
flow characteristics test are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”) if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold and collect the 
contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable 
election at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held for trading at 
FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (“FVTPL”).

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not 
measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge 
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities 
in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements 
for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, 
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the 
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge 
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

During 2017, the Group has performed an assessment of the impact of the adoption of 
HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification and measurement and the 
impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have a significant 
impact on the classification and measurement of its financial assets.

(b) Impairment
The Group will apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses 
that are estimated based on the present values of all cash shortfalls over the 
remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the 
general approach and record twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated 
based on the possible default events on its other receivables within the next twelve 
months.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will have no significant impact on 
the financial performance and the financial position of the Group.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
– Continued
(b) New/Revised HKFRSs – issued but are not yet effective – Continued

HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The core principle 
of the framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS 
15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 
11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation
Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change 
the current approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the 
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

Amendments to HKFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Clarifications to 
HKFRS 15)
The amendments to HKFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of performance 
obligations; application of principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and 
transition requirements.

Based on the current business model, the Group has assessed that the application of 
HKFRS 15 would not result in significant impact on the timing and amounts of revenue 
recognised in the respective reporting periods. However, there will be additional 
qualitative and quantitative disclosures under the application of HKFRS 15.

HK(IFRIC) – Int 22 – Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration
The Interpretation provides guidance on how to determine “the date of the transaction” 
when applying HKAS 21. The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates to situations 
where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign currency and 
recognises a nonmonetary asset or liability.

The Interpretation clarifies that “the date of the transaction” for the purpose of determining 
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income 
(or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset 
or liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration. If there are 
multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related item, the entity should 
determine the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt.

The Group does not anticipate that the application of HK(IFRIC) – Int 22 will have a 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
– Continued
(b) New/Revised HKFRSs – issued but are not yet effective – Continued

HKFRS 16 – Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and related 

interpretations, introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 

recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 12 months, unless the 

underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to 

recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset 

and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a 

lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease 

liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion 

and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the 

right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The 

measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to be 

made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend 

the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is 

significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating 

leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 

accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its 

leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases 

differently.

Furthermore, HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures 

than under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full 

retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 

16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon 

adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical 

expedients available and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

of HK$2,291,000 as disclosed in note 27(b). A preliminary assessment indicates that 

these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the 

Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of these 

leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all 

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting 

Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the 

“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the 

consolidated financial statements include the applicable disclosures required by the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost 

convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and 

short-term investment are measured at fair values.

(b) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), 

which is also the functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the 

nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except when otherwise indicated.

(c) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in 

preparation of these consolidated financial statements. Although these estimates and 

assumptions are based on management’s best knowledge and judgement of current 

events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates and 

assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 

areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial 

statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.2 Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company 

and its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies 

together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 

financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 

evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in 

profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition or 

up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are 

made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 

with those used by other members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition method. 

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value 

of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the 

acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured 

at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised 

in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure 

non-controlling interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either 

at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All 

other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis 

is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are 

incurred in issuing equity instruments, in which case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at 

acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised against 

goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new information obtained within the 

measurement period (a maximum of twelve months from the acquisition date) about the fair 

value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration 

classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control 

are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interest is 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.2 Business combination and basis of consolidation – Continued

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, profit or loss on disposal is calculated as 

the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and 

the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets, 

and liabilities of the subsidiary. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same manner as would be 

required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to the acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that 

represents present ownership interest in the subsidiary is the amount of those interest 

at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in 

equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if 

this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

3.3 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The 

Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: power 

over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and the ability 

to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and 

circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements of control.

3.4 Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, including buildings held for use in 

the production or supply of goods and services, or for administrative purposes are stated 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. They are depreciated 

to write off their cost net of estimated residual value over their estimated useful lives on 

straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, estimated residual value and depreciation 

method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 20 – 50 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 – 10 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of terms of the leases and 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Freehold land is not depreciated and stated at cost less any impairment.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.4 Property plant and equipment – Continued

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 

with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 

carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs such as repairs and 

maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the year in which they 

are incurred.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount 

is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount. See note 3.10 for the Group’s 

accounting policies on impairment of non-financial assets.

Gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference 

between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss 

on disposal.

3.5 Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified 

as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on straight-line basis 

over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct cost incurred in negotiating and arranging 

an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of leased asset and recognised as 

an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 

straight-line method over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an 

integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of the lease.

3.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial recognition, intangible 

assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 

impairment (note 3.10) whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 

impaired. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but reviewed for 

impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) level. The 

useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 

whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.6 Intangible assets – Continued

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are mainly distribution rights and are initially 

recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is fair 

value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are 

carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is 

provided on a straight-line method over their useful lives of 10 to 12 years.

3.7 Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other 

costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost 

is calculated using first-in first out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs necessary to make 

the sale.

3.8 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

(i) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the 

purpose for which the asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are initially measured at fair value and all other financial 

assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or 

sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 

A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a 

contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established 

generally by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.8 Financial instruments – Continued

(i) Financial assets – Continued

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. These arise principally 

through the provision of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and 

also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, they are carried at amortised cost using effective interest method, less 

any identified impairment losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading and short-term 

investment.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•	 it	 has	 been	 acquired	 principally	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 selling	 in	 the	 near	 term;	

or

•	 on	 initial	 recognition	 it	 is	 a	 part	 of	 a	 portfolio	 of	 identified	 financial	

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern 

of short-term profit-taking; or

•	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value 

arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the period 

in which they arise. The net gain or loss recognized in profit or loss includes 

any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets and is included in the 

unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss line item in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the 

manner described in note 35.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.8 Financial instruments – Continued

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is any 

objective evidence that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if 

there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that event has an impact on 

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated. 

Evidence of impairment may include:

•	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	debtor;

•	 a	breach	of	contract,	such	as	a	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	

payments;

•	 granting	concession	to	a	debtor	because	of	debtor’s	financial	difficulty;	and

•	 it	becoming	probable	 that	 the	debtor	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	other	 financial	

reorganisation.

An impairment loss on loans and receivables is recognised in profit or loss 

when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured 

as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account. When any part of financial assets is determined as uncollectible, 

it is written off against the allowance account for the relevant financial assets.

Impairment losses on loans and receivables are reversed in subsequent periods 

when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an 

event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that the 

carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 

what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the 

liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured 

at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables and 

convertible redeemable bonds are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 

effective interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 

as well as through the amortisation process.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.8 Financial instruments – Continued

(iv) Effective interest method

Effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 

asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over 

the relevant period. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or 

liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, 

net of direct issue costs.

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future 

cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has 

been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance 

with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant 

contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

3.9 Convertible Redeemable bonds

The convertible redeemable bonds issued by the Company (note 24) contain both the 

liability and equity components which are classified separately into respective liability 

and equity components on initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the 

liability component is determined using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible 

bond containing derivative features where applicable. The equity component of the 

convertible bonds is then the residual after deducting the fair value of the liability 

component from the proceeds from the issuance of the convertible redeemable bonds. 

The liability component is subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest 

method until extinguished on conversion or redemption. Interest expense is recognised in 

accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs. The equity component 

is recognised in convertible redeemable bonds equity reserve until either the convertible 

redeemable bonds are converted or redeemed. If the convertible redeemable bonds are 

converted, the convertible redeemable bonds equity reserve, together with the carrying 

amount of the liability component at the time of conversion, is transferred to share capital 

and share premium as consideration for the share issued. If the convertible redeemable 

bonds are redeemed, the convertible redeemable bonds equity reserve is released directly 

to accumulated losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.9 Convertible Redeemable bonds – Continued

If the convertible redeemable bonds are early redeemed, the consideration paid for 
redemption is allocated to the liability and equity component using the same allocation 
method as in initial recognition. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair 
value of the liability component redeemed is recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs that related to the issuance of the convertible redeemable bonds are 
allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the 
gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component are charged directly 
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying 
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period using the effective interest 
method.

3.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets having indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually, 
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they are impaired. All other assets 
including property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are tested for impairment whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying amounts 
may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and value-in-use. In 
assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does not generate cash inflows 
largely independent from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined 
for the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently (i.e. a CGU). As 
a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at CGU 
level.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount but only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised.

A reversal of such impairment is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises 
unless that asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal of impairment 
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for the revalued 
amount.



61

Green Energy Group L imi ted  Annual  Report  2017

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.11 Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale when:

•	 they	are	available	for	immediate	sale;

•	 management	is	committed	to	a	plan	to	sell;

•	 it	 is	 unlikely	 that	 significant	 changes	 to	 the	plan	will	 be	made	or	 that	 the	plan	will	

be withdrawn;

•	 an	active	programme	to	locate	a	buyer	has	been	initiated;

•	 the	asset	or	disposal	group	is	being	marketed	at	a	reasonable	price	in	relation	to	its	

fair value; and

•	 a	sale	is	expected	to	complete	within	12	months	from	the	date	of	classification.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the 

lower of:

•	 their	 carrying	 amount	 immediately	 prior	 to	 being	 classified	 as	 held	 for	 sale	 in	

accordance with the Group’s accounting policy; and

•	 fair	value	less	costs	to	sell.

Following their classification as held for sale, non-current assets (including those in a 

disposal group) are not depreciated.

The results of operations disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss up to 

the date of disposal.

3.12 Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the Company/group entities in currencies other than the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional 

currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency 

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of reporting 

period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency 

are not retranslated.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.12 Foreign currency – Continued

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation 

of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair 

value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the 

retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised in 

other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised 

in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into 

the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the 

year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year, in which case, the rates 

approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets and 

liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting 

period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 

income and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised 

in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the translation of 

long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign 

operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

equity as exchange reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of, such exchange differences are reclassified from 

equity to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

3.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, demand deposits and 

short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 

readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.14 Revenue and other income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale 

of goods and rendering of services. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will 

flow to the Group and income and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue 

and other income are recognised as follows:

Sales of goods are recognised upon transfer of the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership to the customer. This is usually taken as the time when the goods are delivered 

and the customer has accepted the goods.

Rental and sub-leasing income under operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the relevant lease.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis using effective interest method.

3.15 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are 

non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding 

amounts used for tax purposes. Except for recognised assets and liabilities that affect 

neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 

temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 

that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can 

be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period when 

the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a 

transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction affects 

neither accounting profit nor taxable profits are not recognised.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.15 Income taxes – Continued

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on 

investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised 

in other comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income.

3.16 Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense 

in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) 

that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the 

annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Short 

term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render the 

related service.

(iii) Share-based payments

Where equity instruments such as share options are awarded to employees and 

others providing similar services, the fair value of the options at the date of grant is 

recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in 

the share option reserve within equity. Non-market vesting conditions are taken into 

account by adjusting the number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end 

of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount recognised over 

the vesting period is based on the number of options that eventually vest. Market 

vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long as 

all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether 

the market vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted 

for failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based 

compensation are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined by 

reference to the equity instruments awarded. The value is appraised at the grant 

date and excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.16 Employee benefits – Continued

(iii) Share-based payments – Continued

If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over 

the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share 

options expected to vest. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions 

about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates 

are subsequently revised, if there is any indication that the number of share options 

expected to vest differs from previous estimates.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the 

increase in the fair value of the options, measured immediately before and after the 

modification, is also recognised in profit or loss over the remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees and others 

providing similar services, the fair value of goods or services received is recognised 

in profit or loss unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as assets. A 

corresponding increase in equity is recognised.

For cash-settled share based payments, a liability is recognised at the fair value of 

the goods or services received.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised 

in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the vested share 

options are lapsed, forfeited or still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 

previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated 

losses.

3.17 Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that 

person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group;

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the Company’s 

parent.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.17 Related parties – Continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that 

each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate 

or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a 

member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 

associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees 

of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 

entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key 

management personnel services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected 

to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

3.18 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has 

a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will probably 

result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 

amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 

unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more future uncertain events not wholly within the control of the Group are also disclosed 

as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – Continued
3.19 Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated 

financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the 

chief operating decision-maker i.e. the most senior executive management for the purposes 

of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of 

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting 

purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in 

respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production processes, the 

type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the 

services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not 

individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are disclosed in note 3, the Directors 

are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 

assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be 

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 

affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects 

both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation 

uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment of the Group are reviewed by the Directors for possible 

impairment when events or changes in operating environment indicate that the carrying 

amounts of such assets may not be fully recoverable. In determining the recoverable 

amounts of these assets, fair value of property, plant and equipment was adopted. Fair 

value of the land and building are estimated by management based on the valuation 

performed by an independent valuer. Fair value of equipment are estimated by 

management with reference to the quoted prices for identical or similar assets in active 

market.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY – Continued
(ii) Impairment of loan and interest receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes into consideration 

the estimation of future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 

financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at 

initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a material 

impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of loan 

receivable is HK$ 7,017,000. (net of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$ 921,000) (31 

December 2016: carrying amount of HK$ 400,000, no allowance for doubtful debts)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group manages its businesses by business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in 

which information is reported internally to the Group’s chief operating decision maker (i.e. 

most senior executive management) for the purposes of resources allocation and performance 

assessment, the Group is currently organised into the following operating segments:

Bio-cleaning materials – Trading of bio-cleaning materials

Waste construction materials recycling – Trading of waste construction materials and 

provision of waste processing services

Renewable energy – Trading of recyclable oil/biodiesel

Plastic recycling – Trading of plastic recycling materials and 

provision of plastic processing services

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated 

by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments. Reportable segment results 

exclude interest income, finance costs and corporate income and expenses from the Group’s 

profit/loss before income tax. Corporate income and expenses are income and expenses 

incurred by corporate headquarters which are not allocated to the operating segments. Each of 

the operating segments is managed separately as the resources requirement of each of them is 

different.

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of corporate assets, including bank balances 

and cash, short-term investment, loan receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss and other assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of operating 

segments as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities include accruals and other payables and other liabilities directly attributable to 

the business activities of operating segments, and exclude corporate liabilities and provision for 

income tax.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

Segment revenue and results

2017

Bio-cleaning 

materials

Waste 

construction 

materials 

recycling

Renewable 

energy

Plastic 

recycling Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

Segment revenue - sales to  

external customers 92 2,575 37,139 1,801 41,607
      

RESULTS

Segment results (268) 1,081 5,788 (5,906) 695
     

Other corporate expenses (19,063)

Finance costs –

Other income 13,971
 

Loss before income tax (4,397)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Segment revenue and results – Continued

2016

Bio-cleaning 

materials

Waste 

construction 

materials 

recycling

Renewable 

energy

Plastic 

recycling Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

Segment revenue – sales to 

external customers 94 2,458 – – 2,552
      

RESULTS

Segment results (252) 818 (1,062) (1,737) (2,233)
     

Share-based payments  

(note 29) (12,387)

Other corporate expenses (23,083)

Finance costs (718)

Other income 1,591
 

Loss before income tax (36,830)
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Segment assets, segment liabilities and other segment information

2017

Bio-cleaning 

materials

Waste 

construction 

materials 

recycling

Renewable 

energy

Plastic 

recycling Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 429 11,703 20,088 29,266 61,486

Unallocated cash and cash 

equivalents 67,216

Loan receivables 7,004

Other corporate assets 9,822
 

Consolidated total assets 145,528
 

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities – 195 10,542 1,013 11,750

Provision for income tax 187

Other corporate liabilities 6,223
 

Consolidated total liabilities 18,160
 

Bio-cleaning 

materials

Waste 

construction 

materials 

recycling

Renewable 

energy

Plastic 

recycling Corporate Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

OTHER INFORMATION

Additions to non-current assets 6 273 – 1,619 102 2,000

Addition to non-current 

assets by acquisition of 

subsidiaries – – – 6,971 1,900 8,871

Depreciation 1 63 – 1,000 742 1,806
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Segment assets, segment liabilities and other segment information – Continued

2016

Bio-cleaning 

materials

Waste 

construction 

materials 

recycling

Renewable 

energy

Plastic 

recycling Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 357 9,864 4,698 19,327 34,246

Unallocated cash and cash 

equivalents 19,573

Loan receivable 400

Other corporate assets 1,927
 

Consolidated total assets 56,146
 

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 5 197 25 871 1,098

Provision for income tax 853

Other corporate liabilities 2,968
 

Consolidated total liabilities 4,919
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Segment assets, segment liabilities and other segment information – Continued

2016 – Continued

Bio-cleaning 
materials

Waste 
construction 

materials 
recycling

Renewable 
energy

Plastic 
recycling Corporate Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

OTHER INFORMATION
Additions to non-current assets – 15 – 15,480 358 15,853
Depreciation 1 73 15 385 307 781
Write-down of inventories to 

net realisable value – – 32 – – 32
Share-based payments  

(note 29) – – – – 12,387 12,387
Impairment loss on deposit 

for property, plant and 
equipment (note 21) – – 2,848 – – 2,848

       

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 
(excluding Hong Kong) and Europe (including Germany and Portugal) . The Group’s revenue 
from external customers by geographical markets, determined based on the location of customers, 
and information about its non-current assets by geographical location, determined based on the 
location of the assets, are detailed below:

Revenue from 
external customers Non-current assets

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 92 94 570 836
The PRC (excluding Hong Kong) – – 1,690 256
Europe 20,612 2,458 33,551 22,929
Other Asian Region 14,506 – – –
Americas 6,397 – – –
     

41,607 2,552 35,811 24,021
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION – Continued
Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers who have individually contributed to 10% or more of the total 

revenue of the Group are disclosed as follows:

Geographical 2017 2016

Segment location HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A Waste construction 

materials recycling

Europe

– 613

Customer B Waste construction 

materials recycling

Europe

– 289

Customer C Renewable energy Other Asian 

Region 14,506 –

Customer D Renewable energy Europe 6,490 –

Customer E Renewable energy Americas 6,397 –

Customer F Renewable energy Europe 5,439 –

Customer G Renewable energy Europe 4,307 –
     

6. REVENUE
Revenue derived from the principal activities of the Group is recognised during the year as 

follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trading of bio-cleaning materials 92 94

Trading of recyclable oil/biodiesel 37,139 –

Trading of waste construction materials 2,001 1,810

Provision of waste processing services 574 648

Trading of plastic recycling materials 683 –

Provision of plastic processing services 1,118 –
   

41,607 2,552
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7. OTHER INCOME AND NET GAINS
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 244 126
Realised fair value gain on financial instruments 732 419
Sub-leasing income 1,041 898
Net exchange gain 10,807 –
Sundry income 1,147 148
   

13,971 1,591
   

8. FINANCE COSTS
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on convertible redeemable bonds (note 24) – 718
   

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging or (crediting):

Depreciation for property, plant and equipment 1,806 781
Auditor’s remuneration 680 689
Minimum lease payments for operating leases in  

respect of land and buildings 1,589 1,733
Research and development expenditure – 10
Loss on disposal/written off of property, plant and equipment 205 8
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 21) 26 –
Impairment on loan and interest receivables (note 17) 921 –
Net exchange (gain)/loss (10,807) 3,161
Provision for litigation claim (note 32) 182 –
Unrealised loss on financial asset at fair value through 

profit or loss 2,432 –
Equity-settled share-based payments to non-employee participants 

(note 29) – 10,117
Staff costs including Directors’ remuneration

Salaries and allowances 9,060 7,270
Retirement benefit – defined contribution scheme 755 427
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees (note 29) – 2,270

9,815 9,967
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10. INCOME TAX CREDIT
The amount of taxation charged/(credited) to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income represents:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
Hong Kong Profits Tax 187 –
Overprovision in respect of prior years (853) –

   

(666) –
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for the year 
after deduction of tax concession. During the year ended 31 December 2016, no provision for 
Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group had no estimated assessable profits arising 
in or derived from Hong Kong.

For the subsidiaries operated in Germany, Portugal and the PRC, no provision for corporate 
income tax or PRC enterprise income tax as appropriate have been made as these subsidiaries 
incurred estimated losses for taxation purposes for both years.

Reconciliation between income tax and accounting loss at applicable tax rates is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (4,397) (36,830)
   

Tax on profit at the rates applicable to the jurisdictions 
concerned (1,999) (6,110)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,371 5,656
Tax effect of non-taxable income/revenue (2,893) (467)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 2,739 924
Tax relief for the year (34) –
Tax effect of other temporary differences not recognised 3 (3)
Overprovision in respect of prior years (853) –
   

Income tax credit (666) –
   

The Group has no material unprovided deferred tax liabilities as at the end of the reporting 
period (2016: Nil).

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of 
cumulative tax losses of HK$42,750,000 (2016: HK$39,650,000) as it is not probable that 
future taxable profit against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant 
group entities. The tax losses have no expiry date under current tax legislation. Other temporary 
differences are not material.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Directors were as follows:

Fees
Salaries and 

allowances

Waive of
salaries and
allowances

Retirement 
benefit 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2017
Executive directors
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry – 1,794 – 33 1,827
Mr. Chan Wai Kit (note (a)) – 250 (250) – –

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. So Yin Wai 120 – – – 120
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 120 – – – 120
Mr. Tam Chun Wa 120 – – – 120

      

360 2,044 (250) 33 2,187
      

Fees
Salaries and 

allowances

Waive of
salaries and
allowances

Retirement 
benefit 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2016
Executive directors
Mr. Yip Wai Leung Jerry – 1,690 – 18 1,708
Mr. Sean Douglas Mollet (note (b)) – 428 – – 428

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. So Yin Wai 120 – – – 120
Ms. Li Kit Chi Fiona 120 – – – 120
Mr. Tam Chun Wa 120 – – – 120
      

360 2,118 – 18 2,496
      

Notes:

(a) Mr. Chan Wai Kit was appointed on 1 February 2017 and resigned on 14 July 2017.
(b) Mr. Sean Douglas Mollet resigned on 15 June 2016.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS 
– Continued
(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, one (2016: one) was a 

director of the Company, whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 

(a) above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2016: four) individuals, are as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 1,790 2,099

Retirement benefit scheme contributions 225 131
   

2,015 2,230
   

Their emoluments were within the following band:

Number of individuals

2017 2016

Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4
   

(c) Senior management’s remuneration

The emoluments paid or payable to the members of the senior management were within 

the following bands:

Number of individuals

2017 2016

Nil to HK$1,000,000 5 5

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
   

6 6
   

The remuneration policies of the Group are based on the prevailing remuneration level in 

the market and the performance of respective group companies and individual employees. 

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors or the highest 

paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation 

for loss of office. In addition, there was no arrangement under which the Directors waived 

or agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.
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12. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the following data:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company (3,118) (36,630)
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss per share

2017 2016

’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 681,030 666,030

Effect of issue upon acquisition of property, plant and equipment 

(note 25(a)) – 3,822

Effect of issue of new shares through placing (note 25(b)) 131,746 –

Effect of share options exercised (note 25(c)) 114,744 –
   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 927,520 669,852
   

In arriving at diluted loss per share, no adjustment has been made as the share options (note 29) 

and convertible redeemable bonds (note 24) outstanding during both years had an anti-dilutive 

effect on the basic loss per share for both years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
lands Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2016 10,320 958 3,381 17,180 1,501 33,340
Exchange realignment (99) (9) (147) (206) (42) (503)
Additions 5,378 3,411 119 6,783 162 15,853
Classified as held for sale  

(note 21) – – – (437) – (437)
Disposal – – – (4,518) (221) (4,739)
       

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 15,599 4,360 3,353 18,802 1,400 43,514

Exchange realignment 2,024 613 182 1,752 65 4,636
Additions – – – 1,736 264 2,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries  

(note 31) 3,669 3,302 1,900 – – 8,871
Disposal – – – (277) – (277)
Written off – – (623) (15) – (638)

       

At 31 December 2017 21,292 8,275 4,812 21,998 1,729 58,106
       

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2016 3,307 213 3,096 16,430 1,225 24,271
Exchange realignment (32) (5) (147) (205) (18) (407)
Depreciation – 95 119 493 74 781
Classified as held for sale  

(note 21) – – – (427) – (427)
Elimination on disposal – – – (4,504) (221) (4,725)
       

At 31 December 2016 and  
1 January 2017 3,275 303 3,068 11,787 1,060 19,493

Exchange realignment 400 46 101 1,014 43 1,604
Depreciation – 150 541 1,009 106 1,806
Elimination on disposal – – – (152) – (152)
Elimination on written off – – (441) (15) – (456)
       

At 31 December 2017 3,675 499 3,269 13,643 1,209 22,295
       

NET CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2017 17,617 7,776 1,543 8,355 520 35,811
       

At 31 December 2016 12,324 4,057 285 7,015 340 24,021
       

The Group’s freehold lands and buildings are situated outside Hong Kong.
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Distribution 

rights

HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 26,800

Written off (26,800)
  

At 31 December 2017 –
  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 26,800

Written off (26,800)
  

At 31 December 2017 –
  

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2017 –
  

At 31 December 2016 –
  

In previous year, the Group holds two exclusive distribution rights granted by third parties to 

distribute those third parties’ cleaning materials in specific Asian countries and generators in 

countries other than the PRC (excluding Hong Kong) for a period of twelve years commencing 

from 1 January 2005 and a period of ten years commencing from 5 November 2007 

respectively. The Group has an option to renew the distribution rights of cleaning materials and 

generators for a term of six years and five years respectively, subject to the terms of agreement.

The exclusive distribution rights have finite useful lives and are subject to amortisation. 

Amortisation is charged to profit or loss using straight-line method to allocate the acquisition 

cost over their estimated useful lives. In the case where there is any impairment in value, the 

unamortised balance is written down to its estimated recoverable amount.

The Directors reviewed the carrying amounts of the Group’s exclusive distribution rights and 

considered that it was uncertain whether future economic benefits would be derived and 

therefore, the distribution rights were fully impaired in previous years. During the year ended 31 

December 2017, the distribution rights are expired and written off.
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15. INVENTORIES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bio-cleaning materials 214 183

Plastic materials 453 694
   

667 877
   

16. TRADE RECEIVABLES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 12,686 105
   

The Group allows a credit period of 14 to 90 days (2016: 14 days) to certain of its trade 

customers. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date at the 

end of the reporting period:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Based on invoice date

0 – 90 days 12,651 91

91 – 180 days 26 13

Over 365 days 9 1
   

12,686 105
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16. TRADE RECEIVABLES – Continued
The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on due date which are past due 

but not impaired at the end of the reporting period:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Based on due date

Not yet past due 12,045 84

0 – 90 days past due 606 11

91 – 180 days past due 26 9

Over 365 days past due 9 1
   

12,686 105
   

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to certain customers for whom there 

was no recent history of default. Certain trade receivables are past due at the reporting date 

but not provided for impairment as the Directors are of the opinion that there has not been a 

significant change in credit quality of the debtors and the balances are still considered fully 

recoverable.

17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Prepayments 456 381

Loan and interest receivables (note (a)) 7,938 400

Other deposits and receivables 2,591 697

Less: Allowance account (921) –
   

10,064 1,478

Deduct: non-current portion (5,000) –
   

5,064 1,478
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17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – Continued
Note:

(a) The loan and interest receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, are repayable as follow, based 
on the terms of agreements:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 2,017 300
More than 1 year but less than 2 years (note (i)) 5,000 100
   

7,017 400
   

(i) The loan bears interest of 2% per annum, secured by a first fixed legal charge on the entire 
issued share capital of the borrower and the deposit of the title deed and documents of two 
properties located in Hong Kong owned by the borrower.

(b) The past due ageing of the loan and interest receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts are as 
follow:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Not yet past due 5,150 400
91-180 days (note (i)) 1,867 –
   

7,017 400
   

(i) The loans bear interest of 5% to 6% per annum. Based on the evaluation of collectability, 
aged analysis of accounts, and the past repayment history of the same debtor, the 
management assessed that the amount is expected to be recovered. In December 2017, the 
Group commenced legal proceedings as plaintiffs against the debtor on the outstanding loans 
and lawyer is of the view that the Group enjoys a reasonable prospect of success in asserting 
its claims, therefore, no impairment was made.

All of the prepayments, deposits and other receivables are expected to be recovered or 

recognised as expense within one year except for rental, utility and sundry deposits, as well as 

loan receivables of HK$5,342,000 (2016:HK$411,000) which are expected to be recovered 

after more than one year.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprises:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 4,819 –
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19. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT
The short-term investment was purchased from a major bank in PRC, subject to maturity within one 

month. The estimated return from this short-term investment was approximately 3.45% per annum 

(2016: Nil). The accrued and unpaid interest will be received upon redemption of the investment 

from the bank. The directors of the Company consider that the carrying value of the short-term 

investment is approximate to its fair value at the end of reporting period.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Included in bank balances and cash of the Group at 31 December 2017 are amounts of 

HK$55,579,000 (2016: HK$11,322,000) which are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”). RMB 

is not a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 

Administration of Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group 

is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through the banks that are authorised to 

conduct foreign exchange business.

21. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
On 29 December 2016, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an 

independent third party to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Gold Stand Holdings 

Limited (the “Target Company”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The principal activity 

of the Target Company and its subsidiary (collectively the “Disposal Group”) is manufacturing 

and trading of renewable energy. The disposal was completed in January 2017. Accordingly, the 

following major classes of assets relating to the Disposal Group have been classified as held for 

sale in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016.

2016

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 10

Deposit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (net of impairment) 2,807

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 52

Bank balances and cash 131
  

3,000
  

In accordance with HKFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, 

the assets of the Disposal Group have been written down to their fair value less costs to sell 

of HK$3,000,000. The fair value less costs to sell of the Disposal Group was estimated with 

reference to the agreed selling price stipulated in the sale and purchase agreement as mentioned 

above, which is a non-recurring fair value measurement. An impairment loss of HK$2,848,000 

has been recognised in profit or loss and has been allocated to the item of deposit for acquisition 

of property, plant and equipment of the Disposal Group.
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21. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE – Continued
The Disposal Group does not constitute a discontinued operation as it does not represent a major 

line of business or geographical area of operation.

The Disposal Group was subsequently disposed of on 27 January 2017 with a loss of 

HK$26,000 recognised in the current year.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of the Disposal Group is as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost

2017

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 10

Deposit for acquisition of property, plant and equipment  

(net of impairment) 2,807

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 51

Bank balances and cash 158
  

Net assets disposed of 3,026
  

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

2017

HK$’000

Consideration received 3,000

Net asset disposed of subsidiaries (3,026)
  

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (26)
  

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries

2017

HK$’000

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 3,000

Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (158)
  

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries 2,842
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22. TRADE PAYABLES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 10,145 684
   

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date at the end of the 

reporting period:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Based on invoice date

0 – 90 days 5,038 684

91 – 180 days 5,107 –
   

10,145 684
   

23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accruals 1,848 1,310

Other payables (note (a)) 5,798 2,072

Provision for litigation claim (note 32) 182 –
   

7,828 3,382
   

(a) The balance included a refundable deposit to secure the potential disposal of assets 

amounting to HK$5,566,000.

All of the accruals and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised as income within 

one year or are payable on demand except for rental deposits HK$202,000 (2016:Nil) which 

are expected to be settled after more than one year.
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24. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE BONDS
The Company issued one-year 8% convertible redeemable bonds at a total principal amount of 

HK$60,060,000 on 22 April 2015. The bonds will mature in one year from the issue date on 21 

April 2016 and can be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at 

initial conversion price of HK$0.78 per share after the date of issuance up to and including the 

maturity date. The maximum number of shares to be converted upon full conversion of the bonds 

is 77,000,000.

The bonds may be redeemed by the Company during the period commencing on the date 

immediately following the expiry of restriction period to and including the maturity date at a 

redemption amount equal to 100% of the principal amount of the outstanding bonds together with 

all interest accrued thereon. Restriction period is defined as the three-month period commencing 

from the date of issue of the bonds.

The bonds have two components – liability and equity components. On initial recognition, the 

fair value of the liability component of the convertible redeemable bonds was determined using 

the prevailing market interest of similar non-convertible bond with the Company’s redemption 

option. The difference between the issue price (net) of the convertible redeemable bonds and 

the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the option for conversion of the 

convertible redeemable bonds into equity, is included in equity as convertible redeemable bonds 

equity reserve. The liability component of the bonds is subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using effective interest rate of 31.1% per annum.

The net proceeds from the issue of the convertible redeemable bonds after the direct transaction 

costs of HK$1,501,000 were HK$58,559,000. The transaction costs were allocated based on 

the fair value of both components of initial recognition.

Bonds with principal amount of HK$25,116,000 and HK$28,158,000 were converted to shares 

and early redeemed respectively in year 2015.

During the year 31 December 2016, no convertible bond was converted into ordinary shares 

of the Company. All the outstanding convertible redeemable bonds brought forward from 31 

December 2015, with principal amount of HK$6,786,000, were redeemed at the maturity date 

on 21 Apr 2016 resulting in transfer of a sum of HK$1,381,000 from convertible redeemable 

bonds equity reserve to accumulated losses.
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24. CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE BONDS – Continued
The movements of the liability and equity components of the convertible redeemable bonds are 

set out as below:

Liability 

component

Equity 

component Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 6,611 1,381 7,992

Imputed interest expense recognised (note 8) 718 – 718

Redemption of convertible redeemable bonds  

at maturity date (7,329) (1,381) (8,710)
    

At 31 December 2016, 1 January 2017 and 31 

December 2017 – – –
    

25. SHARE CAPITAL
Number of 

shares

Share 

capital

’000 HK$’000

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and  

31 December 2017 4,000,000 400,000
   

Issued and fully paid:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

At 1 January 2016 666,030 66,603

Issue upon acquisition of property, plant and equipment  

(note (a)) 15,000 1,500
   

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 681,030 68,103

Issue of new shares through placing (note (b)) 133,206 13,321

Exercise of share options (note (c)) 132,692 13,269
   

At 31 December 2017 946,928 94,693
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25. SHARE CAPITAL – Continued
Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group issued 15,000,000 ordinary shares at an issue 
price of HK$0.28 each for purchase of certain property, plant and equipment for its plastic recycling 
business in Germany. As the purchase price was partially-settled by the Company’s ordinary shares, 
it was an equity-settled share-based payment and accordingly the fair values of the ordinary shares 
issued in connection with the acquisition is determined based on the fair value of the assets acquired 
of HK$9,484,000 less the cash consideration of HK$6,229,000, amounted to HK$3,255,000. 
Among the fair value of HK$3,255,000, HK$1,500,000 of the fair value being the nominal value of 
the shares issued was credited to share capital and the balance of HK$1,755,000 was credited to 
share premium account.

(b) On 14 December 2016, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a placing agent to place 
up to 133,206,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.26 per placing share, a discount of 
approximately 11.86% to the closing price of HK$0.295 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange 
on the same date of the placing agreement. On 3 January 2017, 133,206,000 placing shares were 
placed to not less than six placees at HK$0.26 per placing share. Net proceed generated from this 
share placing amounted to HK$34,115,000. HK$13,321,000 was credit to share capital and the 
balance of HK$20,794,000 was credited to share premium account.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2017, 132,692,000 options were exercised at the exercise 
prices ranging from HK$0.290 to HK$0.541 per share, resulting in the issue of 132,692,000 
new shares of HK$0.1 each. Proceeds generated from exercising the share options amounted to 
HK$50,310,000. HK$13,269,000 was credited to share capital, HK$27,114,000 was debited to 
share option reserve and HK$64,155,000 was credited to share premium account.

26. RESERVES
Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements. The natures and purposes of reserves 

within equity are as follows:

Share premium

Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the funds in the share premium account of the 

Company may be applied:

(a) in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to shareholders of the Company 

as fully paid bonus shares;

(b) in writing off

(i) the preliminary expenses of the Company; or

(ii) the expenses of, or the commission paid or discount allowed on, any issue of shares 

or debentures of the Company; or

(c) in providing for the premiums payable on redemption of any shares or of any debentures 

of the Company.
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26. RESERVES – Continued
Convertible redeemable bonds equity reserve
Convertible redeemable bonds equity reserve represents the equity component of the convertible 
redeemable bonds issued in April 2015 (note 24), which was the difference between the issue 
price (net) of the convertible redeemable bonds and the fair value assigned to the liability 
component, representing the option for conversion of the convertible redeemable bonds into 
equity upon initial recognition of the convertible redeemable bonds.

Contributed surplus
Contributed surplus represents the remaining balance of the aggregate amount of credit arising 
from the capital reduction and the share premium cancellation after credit transfer to accumulated 
losses pursuant to the implementation of restructuring proposal on 27 April 2004 and to a 
resolution passed at a special general meeting on 1 December 2003.

Share option reserve
Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised 
share options granted to the grantees recognised in accordance with the accounting policy 
adopted for share-based payments in note 3.16(iii).

General reserves
In accordance with the PRC regulations, the general reserves retained by a subsidiary in the PRC 
are non-distributable.

Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policies set out in note 3.12.

27. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
(a) The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum rent receivable 
under non-cancellable operating lease in respect of leasing/sub-leasing of land and 
buildings as follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,109 1,035

In the second to fifth year, inclusive 788 1,806

Over five years 474 463
   

2,371 3,304
   

Lease for land and building is negotiated for an average term of two to fifteen years 
(2016: two to fifteen years) at fixed rental.
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27. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS – Continued
(b) The Group as lessee

At the reporting date, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under 

non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings which fall due as 

follows:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,588 1,345

In the second to fifth year, inclusive 703 1,516
   

2,291 2,861
   

Leases for land and building are negotiated for an average term of two to three years 

(2016: six months to four years) at fixed rental.

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had the following outstanding capital commitments at the end of reporting period:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contracted but not provided for, in respect of:

– Acquisition of property, plant and equipment – 1,139
   

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
On 27 May 2016, the shareholders of the Company passed a resolution to approve for the 

termination of the Company’s share option scheme adopted in 2006 (the “Old Share Option 

Scheme”) and the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which 

is an equity-settled share option scheme. The adoption of the Share Option Scheme will not in 

any event affect the terms of the grant of the outstanding options that has already been granted 

under the Old Share Option Scheme and those outstanding options shall continue to be valid and 

subject to the provisions of the Old Share Option Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to selected 

participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the 

Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable 

to the Group.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – Continued
Under the Share Option Scheme, which is valid for a period of ten years, the board of Directors 

of the Company may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe for shares in the Company 

to eligible participants (“Eligible Participants”) who include (i) any employee (whether full-time 

or part-time including any executive director but excluding any non-executive director) of the 

Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”) in which any member of 

the Group holds an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive directors (including independent 

non-executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) 

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any 

customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that 

provides research, development or other technological support to any member of the Group or 

any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or 

any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vii) any 

adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business development 

of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes of 

participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or 

other business arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options 

granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option 

schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in 

issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be 

granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must 

not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of passing of the relevant 

resolution adopting the Share Option Scheme.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or 

to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive 

directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who or whose associate is the 

proposed grantee of the share option). In addition, for granting of share options to a substantial 

shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their 

associates, which would result in the shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon 

exercise of all share options granted and to be granted to such person in the 12-month period up 

to the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of shares of the Company in issue 

and having an aggregated value based on the closing prices of the Company shares at the date 

of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, such further grant of share options are subject to 

shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – Continued
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, 

and the share options in respect of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to have been 

granted on the date of the offer. The acceptance of the share options is subject to payment of a 

nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options 

granted is determinable by the Directors, save that such period shall not be more than ten years 

from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the provisions for early termination 

as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors at their 

absolute discretion, there is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be 

held before an option can be exercised. In addition, there is no performance target which must 

be achieved before any of the options can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Directors, but may not be less than 

the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the 

offer of the share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares 

for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value 

of the Company’s shares.

Details of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

Closing price 

immediately 

before the 

date on which 

options were 

granted

Number of 

options outstanding

HK$ HK$ 2017 2016

9 July 2015 9 July 2015 to 8 July 2025 0.541 0.355 – 40,000,000

1 September 2015 1 September 2015 to  

31 August 2025

0.349 0.340 – 26,090,000

4 November 2016 4 November 2016 to  

3 November 2026

0.290 0.290 – 16,600,000

6 December 2016 6 December 2016 to  

5 December 2026

0.295 0.295 – 50,002,000

      

– 132,692,000
      

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to receive dividends or to vote at shareholders’ 

meetings.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – Continued
The movements of the share options granted under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

2017

Number of options
 

Date of grant Exercisable period

Exercise 

price 

per share

Outstanding at 

01/01/2017 Granted Exercised Lapsed

Outstanding at 

31/12/2017

HK$

Employees 09/07/2015 09/07/2015-08/07/2025 0.541 12,250,000 – (12,250,000) – –

01/09/2015 01/09/2015-31/08/2025 0.349 4,740,000 – (4,740,000) – –

04/11/2016 04/11/2016-03/11/2026 0.290 4,600,000 – (4,600,000) – –

06/12/2016 06/12/2016-05/12/2026 0.295 8,752,000 – (8,752,000) – –

Other eligible 09/07/2015 09/07/2015-08/07/2025 0.541 27,750,000 – (27,750,000) – –

 participants 01/09/2015 01/09/2015-31/08/2025 0.349 21,350,000 – (21,350,000) – –

04/11/2016 04/11/2016-03/11/2026 0.290 12,000,000 – (12,000,000) – –

06/12/2016 06/12/2016-05/12/2026 0.295 41,250,000 – (41,250,000) – –         

Total 132,692,000 – (132,692,000) – –
         

Exercisable at the end of the year –
 

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 0.379 – 0.379 – –
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – Continued
2016

Number of options
 

Date of grant Exercisable period

Exercise 

price 

per share

Outstanding at 

01/01/2016 Granted Exercised Lapsed

Outstanding at 

31/12/2016

HK$

Directors 21/11/2006 21/11/2006-20/11/2016 1.050 680,000 – – (680,000) –

Employees 21/11/2006 21/11/2006-20/11/2016 1.050 518,000 – – (518,000) –

09/07/2015 09/07/2015-08/07/2025 0.541 12,250,000 – – – 12,250,000

01/09/2015 01/09/2015-31/08/2025 0.349 4,740,000 – – – 4,740,000

04/11/2016 04/11/2016-03/11/2026 0.290 – 4,600,000 – – 4,600,000

06/12/2016 06/12/2016-05/12/2026 0.295 – 8,752,000 – – 8,752,000

Other eligible 22/09/2006 22/09/2006-21/09/2016 0.930 1,690,000 – – (1,690,000) –

 participants 21/11/2006 21/11/2006-20/11/2016 1.050 16,550,000 – – (16,550,000) –

09/07/2015 09/07/2015-08/07/2025 0.541 27,750,000 – – – 27,750,000

01/09/2015 01/09/2015-31/08/2025 0.349 21,350,000 – – – 21,350,000

04/11/2016 04/11/2016-03/11/2026 0.290 – 12,000,000 – – 12,000,000

06/12/2016 06/12/2016-05/12/2026 0.295 – 41,250,000 – – 41,250,000
         

Total 85,528,000 66,602,000 – (19,438,000) 132,692,000
         

Exercisable at the end of the year 132,692,000
 

Weighted average exercise price “HK$” 0.596 0.294 – 1.040 0.379
         

There was no share option outstanding as at 31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2016, the 

weighted average remaining contractual life of the share options outstanding was approximately 

9.3 years.
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS – Continued
During the year ended 31 December 2017, no share option (2016: 66,602,000) was granted 

to certain employees and other non-employee participants. The estimated fair value of the 

options granted during the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to HK$12,387,000 

which was determined based on the fair value of the options issued on the date of grant. 

Share options granted to non-employee participants are for their past contribution to the Group 

in respect of providing services similar to those rendered by its employees. During the year 

ended 31 December 2016, the Group has recognised equity-settled share-based payments of 

HK$12,387,000 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, among which HK$ 

2,270,000 was recognised as staff cost and HK$10,117,000 was recognised as other expenses. 

The corresponding amount of HK$12,387,000 has been credited to share option reserve.

The fair values of the share options granted during the year ended 31 December 2016 were 

calculated using the Binomial option pricing model which is commonly used model to estimate 

fair value of share options. The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of 

the share options are based on the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with 

different variables and certain assumptions. The inputs into the valuation model are as follows:

4 November 2016 6 December 2016

Fair value per option HK$0.17 and HK$0.19 HK$0.17 and HK$0.19

Spot price HK$0.290 HK$0.290

Exercise price HK$0.290 HK$0.295

Expected volatility 89.69% 88.11%

Risk-free rate 1.026% 1.442%

Expected dividend yield Nil Nil

Early exercise behaviour 300% of exercise price 300% of exercise price

Valuation model used Binomial Binomial

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share 

price over the past years. The expected life used in the models has been adjusted, based on 

management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 

behavioural considerations.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 132,692,000 (2016: Nil) options were exercised 

and the weighted average closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the dates of 

which the options were exercised was approximately HK$0.58.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had no share option 

outstanding under the Share Option Scheme.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme, Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”), established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. 

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the 

control of trustees.

Both of the employees’ and the Group’s contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s 

monthly relevant income, with the mandatory cap of HK$30,000, and the Group will make 5% 

top-up contribution if an employee’s monthly basic salary exceeds HK$30,000.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC excluding Hong Kong are 

members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC government. These 

subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit 

schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement 

benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The subsidiaries established in Germany are required to make contributions to the local defined 

contribution scheme on a monthly basis pursuant to the local laws and regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group made contributions to the retirement benefit 

schemes of HK$755,000 (2016: HK$427,000). There were no forfeited contributions available 

for offset against existing contributions during the year and prior year.
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31. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF 
SUBSIDIARIES
(a) On 31 October 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments 

of Upframe Limited and its 94.9% owned subsidiary, NW-Assets GmbH (collectively 
“Upframe Group”), whose principal activity is holding of freehold land in Germany, at a 
consideration of EUR770,000 (equivalent to HK$6,969,000) which was satisfied by (i) 
a refundable deposit of EUR77,000 (equivalent to HK$697,000) and (ii) the remaining 
balance of EUR693,000 (equivalent to HK$6,272,000) by cash consideration. The Group 
intended to use the freehold land to further develop and expand its plastic recycling 
business.

The assets and liabilities of Upframe Group as at the date of acquisition were:

2017
HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment 6,971
Bank balances and cash 225
Accruals (34)
  

7,162
  

The fair value of consideration transfer:

2017
HK$’000

Cash consideration 6,969
  

2017
HK$’000

Consideration transferred 6,969
Plus: Non-controlling interests 193
  

Net assets acquired 7,162
  

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

2017
HK$’000

Bank balances and cash acquired 225
Cash consideration paid in 2017 (6,969)
  

(6,744)
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31. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES THROUGH ACQUISITION OF 
SUBSIDIARIES – Continued
(b) On 22 March 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the voting equity instruments of Great 

Vision Bioenvironmental Engineering Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Dongguan 
ReKRETE (collectively “Great Vision Group”), which leased an office premise in the PRC, 
at a consideration of HK$250,000 which was satisfied by cash. The Group intended to 
further develop the renewable energy business in the PRC through Great Vision Group’s 
office premise.

The assets and liabilities of Great Vision Group as at the date of acquisition were:

2017

HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 1,900

Bank balances and cash 9

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 89

Other payables (1,748)
  

250
  

The fair value of consideration transfer:

2017

HK$’000

Cash consideration 250
  

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

2017

HK$’000

Bank balances and cash acquired 9

Cash consideration paid in 2017 (250)
  

(241)
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32. PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
A subsidiary of the Group entered into a tenancy agreement for leasing of a land situated at the 

New Territories of Hong Kong (the “Premises”). The landlord of the Premises received two notices 

issued by the Planning Department and the Lands Department of the Government of Hong Kong 

which request the landlord to perform some removal and reinstatement work on the Premises and 

thereby requested the subsidiary to allow access to the Premises. There is a dispute over the right 

to access the Premises between the landlord and the subsidiary.

On 31 August 2016, the landlord, being the plaintiff (the “Plaintiff”), filed a claim to the district 

court against the subsidiary (the “Defendant”) as follows:

– an injunction that the Defendant to provide reasonable access to the Plaintiff for the 

purpose of carrying out such appropriate and necessary works in compliance with the two 

notices, whereas the Defendant shall reimburse the Plaintiff all reasonable costs incurred 

thereof forthwith;

– alternatively, an injunction or order that the Defendant do forthwith at its own costs carry 

out all such necessary and appropriate works so as to comply with the two notices;

– an indemnity against the Defendant in favour of the Plaintff for all loss and damages, 

costs and disbursement incurred for and/or arising from all enforcement and/or other 

proceedings in connection with and/or in respect of the unauthorised structures;

– loss and damages to be assessed; and

– interests and costs and further or other relief.

An interim decision was made by the district court on 8 March 2017 which granted an order in 

favour of the Plaintiff an injunction that the Defendant provides reasonable access to the Plaintiff 

for the purpose of carrying out all such appropriate and necessary works in compliance with 

the two notices in respect of the Premises, whereas the ultimate liability for such works shall be 

decided separately at trial.

On 23 May 2017, the district court adjudged the Defendant to return Plaintiff the vacant 

possession of the Premises and adjudged that the Defendant to pay the Plaintiff for the claim. Up 

to the date of this report, the claim has not yet been settled and provision for litigation claim of 

HK$182,000 has been provided for the liability accrued up to 31 December 2017. No provision 

has been made in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2016 as the trial 

was still in progress at that time. The amount of the claim cannot be measured reliably as it is 

dependent on the outcome of the trial.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Significant related party transactions

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

(i) Legal and professional fees paid to J. Chan Yip, 

So Partner, a solicitor firm in which the executive 

director of the Company, Mr Yip Wai Leung 

Jerry, is a partner 1,587 1,440
    

(ii) Management service fee paid to Fully Glory 

Investment Limited, a related company in which 

the executive director of the Company, Mr Yip 

Wai Leung Jerry, is director and shareholder 453 420
    

Legal and professional fee and management service fee paid to the related companies 

were charged at a rate mutually agreed between two parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Members of key management personnel of the Group during the year comprised only of 

the Directors of the Company whose remuneration is set out in note 11(a).

34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue 

as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of 

the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior 

year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity 

attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, 

the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. 

Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital 

structure through the payment of dividends, issue of new shares and shares buy-backs as 

well as the issue of new debts.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Continued
(b) Financial instruments

(i) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at FVTPL

– Equity securities listed in Hong Kong held for 

trading 4,819 –

– Short-term investment 356 –

Loans and receivables

– Trade receivables 12,686 105

– Deposits and other receivables 9,608 1,106
   

27,469 1,211

Cash and cash equivalents 81,125 26,665
   

108,594 27,876
   

2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

– Trade payables 10,145 684

– Accruals and other payables 7,828 3,382
   

17,973 4,066
   

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity securities held for trading, 

short-term investment, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and 

cash equivalents, trade payables and other payables. Details of these financial 

instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these 

financial instruments include currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk 

and equity price risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 

The Directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate measures 

are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Continued
(b) Financial instruments – Continued

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group 

mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC excluding Hong Kong and Germany. The 

functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries are either HK$, “RMB” or 

Euro. The Group is exposed to currency risk arising from fluctuations on foreign 

currencies, primarily from those bank balances denominated in US$ and Euro, 

against the respective functional currency of the respective Group entities. Currently 

the Group does not have foreign currency hedging policy but the management 

continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Summary of exposure

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s foreign currency denominated 

financial assets and liabilities, translated into HK$ at the respective rates at that 

date, are as follows:

2017 2016

Financial 

assets

Financial 

liabilities

Net 

exposure

Financial 

assets

Financial 

liabilities

Net 

exposure

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 11,863 – 11,863 1,080 – 1,080

Euro 1,381 – 1,381 4,079 – 4,079
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Continued
(b) Financial instruments – Continued

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Currency risk – Continued

Currency exchange rate sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s loss for the 

year and accumulated losses in response to reasonably possible changes in the 

foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end 

of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between group 

companies where the denomination of the balances is in a currency other than 

the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below 

indicates an increase in loss and accumulated losses where (i) RMB strengthens 

against US$ and (ii) HKD Strengthen against Euro. For a weakening of (i) RMB 

against US$ and (ii) HKD against Euro, there would be an equal and opposite 

impact on the loss for the year and accumulated losses, and the balances below 

would be negative.

2017 2016

Weakening 

of foreign 

exchange 

rates

Effect on 

loss for the 

year and 

accumulated 

losses

Weakening 

of foreign 

exchange 

rates

Effect on 

loss for the 

year and 

accumulated 

losses

HK$’000 HK$’000

(i) US$ (note) 3% – 3% 32

(ii) Euro 3% 41 3% 122
     

The assumed changes have no significant impact on the Group’s other components 

of equity.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in 

currency exchange rates had occurred at the beginning of the year and had been 

applied to the abovementioned financial instruments at that date and throughout 

the year constantly. The percentage increase or decrease represents management’s 

assessment of a reasonably possible change in currency exchange rates over the 

period until the next annual reporting date.

Note:

The relevant financial assets are held by subsidiaries of which the functional currency is HK$. 
As US$ is pegged to HK$, the Group considers the currency risk is insignificant.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Continued
(b) Financial instruments – Continued

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued

Credit risk

To minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team 

responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring 

procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In 

addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade 

debt/loan receivable at the end of each reporting period to ensure that adequate 

impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors 

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with 

high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are deposited with 

several banks with high credit ratings, the Group also has significant concentration 

of credit risk on trade and loan receivables which consist of a few customers/

lenders only spread across limited industries and geographical areas.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest-rate risk mainly arises from loan receivables as 

disclosed in note 17(a), which are issued at fixed rates which expose the Group to 

fair value interest-rate risk. The Group has no significant cash flow interest-rate risk 

as there are no borrowings which bear floating interest rates. The Group has not 

used any interest rate swaps to hedge potential fluctuations in interest rates.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Directors monitor and maintain a level 

of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Group’s operations 

and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Continued
(b) Financial instruments – Continued

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and policies – Continued
Liquidity risk – Continued
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the 
reporting period of the Group’s financial liabilities, based on undiscounted cash 
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual rates) and the earliest 
date the Group can be required to pay.

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cashflow

Within 1 year 
or on demand

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2017
Trade payables 10,145 10,145 10,145
Accruals and other payables 7,828 7,828 7,828
    

17,973 17,973 17,973
    

2016
Trade payables 684 684 684
Accruals and other payables 3,382 3,382 3,382
    

4,066 4,066 4,066
    

(iii) Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (note 18) and short-term investment (note 19). The 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are equity securities listed in Hong 
Kong. Decisions to buy or sell are based on daily monitoring of the performance of 
individual securities compared to that of the Index and other industry indicators, as 
well as the Group’s liquidity needs. The short-term investment is held for short term 
strategic purpose.

At 31 December 2017, it was estimated that an increase or decrease of 5% in 
the relevant investments, with all other variables held constant, would decrease or 
increase the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses) of HK$259,000 (2016: 
Nil) respectively.

(iv) Fair value measurement
The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate to their fair values due to 
short-term maturities of these financial instruments.
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35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS RECOGNISED IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured at fair value 
at the end of each reporting period for recurring measurement, grouped into Level 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance to the Group’s accounting 
policy.

(a) Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair value

Financial instruments
Fair value as at Fair value 

hierarchy2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

Held-for-trading investment equity securities 
listed in Hong Kong

4,819 – Level 1

Short-term investment 356 – Level 2

The fair value of equity securities listed in Hong Kong was determined based on the quoted 
price in active market. The fair value of short-term investment was determined based on the 
purchase cost of wealth management products issued by financial institutions in PRC which 
closed to the end of reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2016: Nil). The Group’s policy is to recognise 
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in 
which they occur.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants in the principal market at 
the measurement date under current market condition (i.e. an exit price), regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics 
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements in 
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within 
the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.

For financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

•	 Level	 1	 inputs	 are	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	markets	 for	 identical	 assets	
or liability that the entity can assess at the measurement date

•	 Level	2	 inputs	are	 inputs,	other	 than	quoted	prices	 included	within	Level	1,	 that	are	
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2017 2016

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries – –
    

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 360 291

Amounts due from subsidiaries 115,342 48,815

Cash and cash equivalents 7,966 866
    

123,668 49,972
    

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 765 730
    

765 730
    

Net current assets 122,903 49,242
    

Net assets 122,903 49,242
    

EQUITY

Share capital 25 94,693 68,103

Reserves 36(b) 28,210 (18,861)
    

Total equity 122,903 49,242
    

On behalf of the directors

Director Director
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE COMPANY 
– Continued
(b) Reserves of the Company

Share 

premium

Convertible 

redeemable 

bonds equity 

reserve

Contributed 

surplus

Share 

option 

reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2016 324,745 1,381 56,897 27,323 (405,861) 4,485

Loss and total comprehensive income  

for the year – – – – (37,488) (37,488)

Recognition of equity-settled share-based 

payments 29 – – – 12,387 – 12,387

Redemption of convertible redeemable 

bonds 24 – (1,381) – – 1,381 –

Lapse of vested share options – – – (12,596) 12,596 –

Issue of share upon acquisition of 

property, plant and equipment 25 1,755 – – – – 1,755
        

At 31 December 2016 and  

1 January 2017 326,500 – 56,897 27,114 (429,372) (18,861)

Loss and total comprehensive income  

for the year – – – – (10,764)) (10,764)

Issuance of share through placing 25 20,794 – – – – 20,794

Share issued upon exercise of  

share capital 25 64,155 – – (27,114) – 37,041
        

At 31 December 2017 411,449 – 56,897 – (440,136) 28,210
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37. PARTICULARS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Company name

Place of 
incorporation and 

registration/operation

Issued share 
capital/paid 

up capital

Attributable 
equity 

interests Principal activities

China Billion Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Almoray Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Jackwell Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Privilege Sino Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 100% Investment holding

Proven Best Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Provost Profits Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Dongguan Innovative Power 
Equipment Limited^*

PRC US$2,300,000 100% Investment holding

Dubaplain Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

EnviroAssets GmbH Germany EUR25,000 100% Holding freehold land

EnviroEnergy GmbH Germany EUR500,000 100% Holding freehold land

EnviroPlastics GmbH Germany EUR27,650 90% Trading of plastic 
recycling materials 
and plastics 
processing provision

EnviroPower GmbH Germany EUR100,000 100% Trading of waste 
construction materials 
and waste processing 
provision

Gain Asset Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Management services to 
group companies

Casson Global Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Bliss Hour Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

House Smart Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

Red Huge Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation and 

registration/operation

Issued share 
capital/paid 

up capital

Attributable 
equity 

interests Principal activities

Easykit Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant

Great Vision Bioenvironmental 
Engineering Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Investment holding

Upframe Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

NW-Assets GmbH Germany EUR25,000 94.9% Holding of freehold land

Dongguan ReKRETE Biological 
Technology Limited  
(“Dongguan ReKRETE”)^*

PRC HK$14,000,000 100% Dormant

Green Energy Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Securities investment

Green Energy Resources Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant

Green Energy Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant

Green Energy Waste  
Management Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant

Jensen Power Equipment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Dormant

ReKRETE International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding

ReKRETE (Asia) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Trading of bio-cleaning 
materials

Green Energy Supplies Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Trading of recyclable 
oil/biodiesel

Green Energy Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Investment holding

GE – Natural Fuels S.A Portugal EUR50,000 100% Dormant

Skylimit Ventures Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% Investment holding
     
Sande Agro GmbH Germany EUR25,000 100% Holding of freehold land

* English name for identification purpose only
^ Wholly foreign owned enterprise

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

37. PARTICULARS OF THE COMPANY’S SUBSIDIARIES – Continued
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year, the Group has no major non-cash transactions.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment 

with fair value of HK$9,484,000 which was settled as to HK$6,229,000 by cash and 

HK$3,255,000 by issue of the Company’s shares (note 25(a)).

39. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 29 March 2018.
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is 

set out below:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Revenue 41,607 2,552 1,211 2,357 1,644
      

Loss attributable to owners  

of the Company (3,118) (36,630) (43,148) (36,198) (15,916)
      

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 145,528 56,146 81,894 44,937 19,145

Total liabilities (18,160) (4,919) (9,622) (3,041) (3,927)
      

Total equity attributable  

to owners of the Company 128,016 51,399 72,272 41,896 15,218
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